

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

# Effect of Clinical Hours and Program Type on NCLEX Pass Rates

Kara Potter Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Kara Potter

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Leslie Hussey, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Maria Ojeda, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Carolyn Sipes, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Effect of Clinical Hours and Program Type on NCLEX Pass Rates

by

Kara Potter

MSN, San Jose State University, 2004

BSN, Norwich University 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2020

#### Abstract

Clinical education is an essential portion of prelicensure nursing education throughout the United States. There is a lack of research examining clinical education in nursing programs and minimum competency for entry into practice as measured by the National Council Licensure Exam (NCLEX) results and differences in levels of care between associate degree (ADN) nurses and bachelor's degree (BSN) nurses. The purposes of this study, guided by Benner's novice to expert theory, were to determine whether the total number of clinical hours, program type (ADN vs. BSN), simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN predict NCLEX pass rates. Data included 119 responses for Research Questions 1 and 3, and 168 responses for Research Question 2. Overall multiple linear regression model was not statistically significant, meaning the predictors (program type, the total number of clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, simulation hours and skills lab hours) did not predict NCLEX pass rates. There was a significant difference in the total number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours between ADN and BSN programs. More research is needed to determine the ideal number of clinical hours which are needed to adequately educate new nurses from both ADN and BSN programs for practice. These results can promote positive social change by informing nursing education about clinical hours so that nurses are better prepared for practice.

### Effect of Clinical Hours and Program Type on NCLEX Pass Rates

by

Kara Potter

MSN, San Jose State University, 2004

BSN, Norwich University, 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2020

#### Acknowledgments

I'd like to acknowledge my faculty at Walden University for supporting me throughout this process. Dr. Hussey and Dr. Ojeda, I couldn't have done this without your constant support and feedback. I'd also like to acknowledge my family and friends who have supported me in this journey: Holly Matthews, Tony Maida, and Daniel Gilbert Valencia. Your support and consideration throughout the PhD process made me able to succeed. I couldn't have done it without you!

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	/ii
Part 1: Overview	.1
Introduction	.1
Background	.2
Theoretical Framework 1	12
Overview of the Manuscripts1	15
Manuscript 2 1	16
Manuscript 2 1	18
Manuscript 3 1	19
Significance	21
Summary	21
Part 2: Manuscripts	23
Clinical Hours and Program Types Effects on NCLEX Pass Rates	23
Outlet for Manuscript2	24
Abstract2	25
Introduction	26
Significance	26
Relevant Scholarship2	27
Theoretical Framework	30
Purpose	31

## Table of Contents

Research Question and Design	31
Methods	31
Participants	31
Sample and Power	32
Variables/Sources of Data	32
Instrumentation or Measures	33
Design and Analysis	34
Results	34
Tests of Assumptions	35
Descriptive Statistics	37
Inferential Results	37
Discussion	38
Interpretation	38
Limitations	40
Implications	41
Recommendations	42
Conclusion	<u>43</u>
References	44
Differences in Clinical Hour Types Between Associate Degree and Bachelor	
Degree Nursing Programs	53
Outlet for Manuscript	54
Abstract	55

Introduction	56
Significance/Importance	56
Relevant Scholarship	57
Theoretical Framework	60
Purpose	60
Research Question and Design	61
Methods	61
Sample and Power	62
Variables/Sources of Data	62
Instrumentation or Measures	63
Design and Analysis	64
Results	64
Execution	64
Tests of Assumptions	65
Descriptive Statistics	66
Inferential Results	66
Discussion	68
Interpretation	68
Limitations	69
Limitations	69 69
Limitations Implications Recommendations	69 69 71

References72
Relationship Among Types of Clinical Hours and NCLEX Pass Rates
Outlet for Manuscript82
Abstract
Introduction
Significance/Importance
Theoretical Framework
Relevant Scholarship
Research Question and Design91
Methods92
Participants
Sample and Power
Variables/Sources of Data93
Instrumentation or Measures93
Design and Analysis94
Results
Execution
Tests of Assumptions
Descriptive Statistics
Inferential Results
Discussion100
Limitations 102

Implications	103
Recommendation	104
Conclusion	104
References	106
Part 3: Summary	116
Integration of the Studies	116
Conclusion	117
References	119
Appendix A: Survey	
Appendix B: Demographic Data Manuscripts 1 and 2	
Appendix C: Scripts	142
Appendix D: MANOVA Demographics	143

## List of Tables

Table 1. Correlation Coefficients Among Study Predictor Variables	35
Table 2. Means and Standard Deviations for Quantitative Study Variables	37
Table 3. Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances	66
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics	66
Table 5. Tests of Between-Subjects Effects	67
Table 6. Correlation Coefficients Among Study Predictor Variables	96
Table 7. Means and Standard Deviations for Quantitative Study Variables	98
Table 8. Coefficients	100

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals	36
Figure 2. Scatterplot of the standardized residuals.	37
Figure 3. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals where 9	%
pass take is the % of Students passing the NCLEX	97
Figure 4. Scatterplot of the standardized residuals.	98

#### Part 1: Overview

#### Introduction

Nurses are currently experiencing high vacancy and turnover rates of 8% and 17% respectively (Nursing Solutions Inc., 2019). Research has suggested that new nurses are feeling unprepared for practice, causing them to leave the bedside (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Monaghan, 2015; Odland, Sneltvdt, & Sörlie, 2014). The nursing shortage is leading to understaffed units and poor patient outcomes such as increased hospital-acquired infections, cost of care, and increased patient morbidity and mortality (Kennedy, Tevis, & Kent, 2014; Kutney-Lee et al., 2009; Nursing Solutions Inc., 2016).

One aspect that affects the preparedness of nurses to enter practice is their prelicensure education. Nursing prelicensure education is tasked with preparing safe and competent nurses prepared to practice in a constantly changing practice (Ruth-Sahd, 2014). Nursing education contains two components: theory and clinical (Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Frederiksen, 2017; National Council of State Boards of Nursing [NCSBN], 2005). The theoretical nursing education includes theory and medical knowledge, whereas clinical training consists of the practical application of theoretical knowledge. Researchers have studied best practices in the theoretical education of nursing students to obtain competency (Horntvedt, Nordsteien, Fermann, & Severinsson, 2018; Kalb, O'Conner-Von, Brockway, Rierson, & Sendelbach, 2015; Obermann, De Gagne, & Phillips, 2018; Smith & Fitzpatrick, 2006). But currently, there is little published research to support best clinical education practices in prelicensure clinical education. Furthermore, nursing schools are experiencing larger class sizes and enrollment numbers as a result of attempts to try and alleviate nursing shortages by training more nurses. As a result of not only the increasing number of students but also the difficulty nursing schools have in obtaining clinical placements, instructors are developing teaching strategies outside of clinical hours to allow students to learn important nursing care skills (NCSBN, 2005). Due to these changes in clinical education of nursing students, further research is needed in the area of clinical education.

#### Background

With clinical experience, or clinical hours in prelicensure programs, nurses gain competency and move from novice to expert in their fields (Benner, 1984). However, there is a significant variation in the number of clinical hours required in prelicensure nursing programs (NCSBN, 2005, 2018; Smiley, 2019). Some states regulate the minimum number of clinical hours nursing students must complete before being eligible to take the National Council Licensure Examination (NCLEX; NCSBN, 2018, Spector, Hooper, Silvestre, & Qian, 2018), but these hours vary from 400 to over 1,000 (NCSBN, 2018). The variation also ranges between program types, where Bachelor of Science in nursing (BSN) programs have ranged from 432 to 960 and associate degree (ADN) programs ranged from 270 to 855 (Smiley, 2019). Though minimum clinical competencies may be met by students if they pass an accredited nursing program, clinical requirements may vary greatly between programs and degree type (Lewallen, 2019; NCSBN, 2005; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015). But there has been no evidence to support the minimum number of clinical hours needed to establish competency in prelicensure clinical education (Bowling, Cooper, Kellish, Kubin, & Smith, 2018). Therefore, the

relationship between prelicensure clinical hours and minimum competency as measure by NCLEX pass rates warrants further examination. Researching the relationship between prelicensure clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates is an initial step to determining the relationship between prelicensure clinical education and nursing competency.

Although authors stress the importance of quality of clinical education (Benner, Sutphen, Leonard, & Day, 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018), authors do not agree on the specific clinical education practices that lead to a quality clinical education (Caputi, 2018; Jeppesen et al., 2017; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018). Further, there is a lack of evidence to support the quantity of prelicensure clinical education (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). There is wide variation in clinical education practices such as number of hours, number of days, and length of clinical days across clinical education programs (NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al., 2018; Smiley, 2019). Additionally, studies evaluating best clinical education techniques have shown limitations such as evaluating perceived confidence rather than objective competence and having small sample sizes (Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2017; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015). Further confounding this problem is that clinical evaluation tools lack validity and reliability, which may explain why new nurses are often feeling unprepared for practice (Lewallen, 2019; Wu, Enskär, Lee, & Wang, 2015).

New nurses feeling unprepared for practice is commonly referred to as the theory–practice gap (Hickerson, Taylor, & Terhaar, 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; Saifan, AbuRuz, & Masa'deh, 2015). The theory–practice gap has been found to be at least partially responsible for the low nursing retention rates and the nursing shortage (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Hickerson et al., 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; Monaghan, 2015; Odland et al., 2014; Spector et al., 2015). Though the literature has focused on transition into practice programs to elevate this gap (Marion, Marie, Bernadette, Nick, & Keithia, 2015; Read & Laschinger, 2017; Goode, Ponte, & Havens, 2016), more research on prelicensure clinical education may help narrow the theory–practice gap for prelicensure nurses (Caputi, 2018; Rice, 2015).

To better understand the theory–practice gap, it is necessary to look at the variety of settings in which prelicensure nurses may spend the required clinical hours. The three main areas that are included in prelicensure clinical education are simulation, patient care, and skills lab hours (NCSBN, 2005). Patient care clinical hours are the traditional foundation of nursing clinical education (Jeppesen et al., 2017). Patient care clinical hours include time when students practice with real patients (Jeppesen et al., 2017; Forber et al., 2016; NCSBN, 2005). Skills lab hours include learning or practice new psychomotor skills in a controlled lab environment (Jeppesen et al., 2017; Haraldseid, Friberg, & Aase, 2015). Finally, prelicensure clinical students may also spend clinical time caring for simulated patients in a controlled environment, referred to as simulation (Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016).

Patient care clinical hours are an essential component of undergraduate nursing programs (Bradley et al., 2019; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2016; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al., 2018). Authors have studied the effectiveness of different types of patient care clinical models that include

preceptor models, clinical facilitator models, and dedicated education unit models (Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018). Preceptor models of clinical education are when students are placed with a nurse preceptor or mentor in a patient care facility. In the preceptor model students are guided through the clinical experience by a registered nurse (RN) who is employed by the clinical facility and is working in that facility as an RN (Forber et al., 2016; Jayasekara et al., 2018). The clinical facilitator model is the traditional clinical education model used in the United States (Forber et al., 2016). In the model, the clinical facilitator is faculty employed by the college or university who guides student learning at the clinical facility through a variety of teaching and learning techniques (Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018). The final clinical education model is the dedicated education unit, which uses clinical facilitators on a unit provided by the facility including nurses who facilitate student learning and integration into the role of the RN in a collaborative environment (Forber et al., 2016; Jayasekara et al., 2018). Although a variety of studies have examined the different educational models, research has not supported the superiority of any of the clinical education models or the best number of hours for students to spend in the clinical setting (Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018).

Even within these teaching models, research shows that there is variation in types of education and clinical experiences (Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Fredriksen, 2017; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Student instruction can come from either the nurse faculty or the RN working with the student (Flott & Linden, 2015; Jeppsen et al., 2017). There is a variety of qualifications for RNs supervising students in clinical ranging from 5 years of experience and taking a hospital provided course to no requirements at all (Flott & Linden, 2015). Teaching and learning strategies and the facilities where students are placed for clinical education also vary between institutions and instructors (Forber et al., 2016; Pai, 2016; Stomski et al., 2018). Furthermore, there is no standardized way to assess the clinical competence of nursing students or newly graduated nurses (Lewallen, 2019; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015; Wu et al., 2015). These factors add an additional complexity to researching clinical education, as research has not established best practices in clinical education models, placements, or teaching and learning strategies (Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jeppsen et al., 2017; Sharghi, Alami, Khosravan, Mansoorian, & Ekerami, 2015; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Therefore, further research is warranted on patient care clinical hours and the amount of time that students spend in the clinical environment or on clinical education activities.

Along with patient care hours, skills lab hours are a portion of clinical education, though students do not interact with patients but rather learn and practice skills in a controlled learning environment (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016). The skills lab environment generally includes both didactic instruction on clinical skills and opportunities for students to observe and practice clinical skills in a safe environment prior to performing these skills on actual patients (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, Chattu, Rewatker, & Sakhamuri, 2019). One important aspect of clinical hours spent in the skills lab is that students are provided opportunities to practice clinical skills with direct observation from an instructor or a peer to provide feedback so the student may improve the clinical skills (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, et al., 2019). Education in the skills lab setting can take a variety of forms, including low fidelity simulation or simulated skills training, deliberate practice, peer-assisted learning, role playing, and problem-based learning (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu et al., 2019; Struksnes & Engelien, 2016). The primary purpose of skills labs is to allow students to become proficient in skills in a controlled environment prior to applying these skills in the clinical environment, to decrease the risk of harm to patients, and improve the quality of patient care (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu et al., 2019; Struksnes & Engelien, 2016). However, in the skills lab, students do not experience all the complexities of patient care (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, et al., 2019). Therefore, many state boards of nursing regulate the amount or percentage of clinical time that may be spent in the skills lab (California Board of Registered Nursing, 2019; NCSBN, n.d., 2005). Further, the number of skills lab hours in a nursing program and its relationship to NCLEX pass rates warrants further investigation.

Simulation is similar to skills lab hours in that it does not involve caring for actual patients (Palaganas, 2015). In simulation, students can practice skills, critical thinking, and clinical decision making in a controlled environment where no harm can come to patients (Hayden, Smiley, Alexander, Kardong-Edgren, & Jeffries, 2014). However, simulation differs from skills lab hours in that students are expected to care for simulated patients in a simulated hospital environment (Hayden et al., 2014; Palaganas, 2015). Simulation uses high fidelity manikins that have a variety of life-like capabilities that allow students to perform a variety of tasks and skills (Hayden et al., 2014; Palaganas, 2015). Simulation is also being used by nurse educators to improve students' clinical

judgment and remediate underperforming students (Fey & Kardong-Edgren, 2017; Johnson et al., 2012; Lavoie, Pepin & Cossette, 2014; Lindsey & Jenkins, 2013; Lock, 2019) by letting them practice a skill in a complex simulated environment on high fidelity manikins rather than live patients (Palaganas, 2015). Students are observed by instructors in simulation and receive feedback from instructors and peers after the simulation is complete (Hayden et al., 2014; Palaganas, 2015). However, students do not receive direct instruction and multiple chances to perform one skill but rather focus on providing comprehensive care to the manikin in the simulated care environment (Hayden et al., 2014; Palaganas, 2015).

There has been significant research on simulation environments, strategies to facilitate simulation, and how to facilitate learning from the simulations learners participate in (Battista, 2017; Brown, Wong, & Ahmed, 2018; Cheng, Eppich, Grant, Sherbino, Zendejas, & Cook, 2014; Kelly, Berragan, Husebø, & Orr, 2016; Sittner et al., 2015; Wiggins, 2018). Best practices in simulation have also been outlined by organizations such as the National League for Nursing (n.d.) and Society for Simulation in Health Care (2018) to guide the use of simulation in healthcare and in nursing education. These organizations also support the education of faculty in simulation and the use of simulation in education to further support best practices in simulation in education (National League for Nursing, n.d., Society for Simulation in Health Care, n.d.). This support may lead to simulation being a strong method of clinical education for nursing students increasing NCLEX pass rates. Simulation is also being used to replace clinical hours in many nursing programs (Alexander et al., 2015; Beroz, 2017; Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016). Researchers agree that 50% of traditional clinical hours can be replaced with simulation without impeding traditional measures of student success such as meeting program objectives, grade point average, passing national licensing exams, and self-perceived readiness to practice (Hayden et al., 2014; Meyer, Connors, Hou, & Gajewski, 2011; Schlairet & Fenster, 2012; Sportsman, Schumacker, & Hamilton, 2011; Watson et al., 2012). Although there is support that up to 50% of clinical hours can be replaced with simulation hours without a negative effect on students, no published research has evaluated the number of hours students spend in simulation to student outcomes.

Further, though simulation can be used to replace clinical hours in nursing education, there is a wide variety in simulation use and the percentage of clinical replaced by simulation (Bradley, Jhonson, Dreifuerst, Conde, & Curry-Lourenco, 2019; Breymier et al., 2015; Smiley, 2019). Bradley et al. (2019) found that of 50 states surveyed 30 boards of nursing had documented regulations on simulation use in nursing programs. Of those, 13 allowed up to 50% of clinical time replaced with simulation hours, two allowed 30%, seven allowed 25%, four did not specify the number of hours that could be allowed, and six had percentages that varied based on program or simulation characteristics. Adding to this variation is that schools may use simulation in substitution for clinical hours at different ratios and that these ratios are inconsistently reported (Bradley et al., 2019; Breymier et al, 2015; Smiley, 2019). Furthermore, the regulations from boards of nursing regarding the ratio of simulation to clinical hour replacement also varies greatly: three have allowed the replacement of clinical with simulation at a 1:1 ratio, one allowed a ratio of 1:1 or 1:2, and the other 25 boards of nursing did not define an equivalence ratio (Bradley et al., 2019). Due to this wide variation in simulation percentages and use across states, further research is warranted regarding the number of hours students spend in simulation and resulting competency as measured by NCLEX pass rates.

Another aspect of prelicensure clinical education that warrants further investigation is the difference in education of BSN and ADN prelicensure nursing students. Authors have found that hospitals who employ more nurses who possess higher levels of education had lower morbidity and mortality rates (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, Salone, & Silber, 2003; Aiken, Sloane, Bruyneel, Van den Heede, & Sermeus, 2013; Blegen, Goode, Park, Vaughn, & Spetz, 2013; Estabrooks, Midodzi, Cummings, Ricker, & Giovannetti, 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Nurses with a BSN degree or higher also had lower rates of failure to rescue and appear to have improved clinical judgement compared to diploma an ADN prepared nurses (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Belegen et al., 2013). This evidence of improved patient outcomes has been used to mandate that the BSN degree should be the minimum for entry into practice as an RN (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2019). However, some have argued that both ADN and BSN programs prepare nurses for entry into practice, as both degrees prepare students to pass the NCLEX (Cabaniss, 2014).

ADN prepared nurses have also experienced more challenges coordinating care for patients in an interdisciplinary team and showed some limitations in data analysis, handoff reporting, and beginning critical conversations with the interdisciplinary team compared to BSN prepared nurses (Loversidge et al., 2018). But although ADN programs have shown some limitations in clinical education, BSN programs have also shown some limitations (Loversidge, et al, 2018; Melnyk et al., 2018). Both ADN and BSN prepared nurses have lacked in meeting evidence-based practice competencies, although BSN prepared students were slightly better at meeting the competencies than ADN students (Melynk et al., 2018). Further arguments have been made that baccalaureate clinical education is not producing nurses adequately educated to meet the needs of the healthcare environment (Hickey, 2010).

Although competencies of ADN, BSN, and all prelicensure clinical education has been examined, authors do not agree on the definition of the concept or the minimum standards to achieve clinical competence (Cabaniss, 2014; Diede, McNish, & Coose, 2000; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018; Garside & Nhemachena, 2013; Uley-Smith, 2004). Research has also focused on patient safety and the development of advanced clinical competencies in RN to BSN programs, suggesting that ADN students benefit from further clinical education to enhance their performance to meet the level of BSN clinical performance (Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Diede et al., 2000; Fisher, 2014; Northrup-Snyder, Menkens, & Dean, 2017). Therefore, further research is needed on clinical competency and clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses. Specifically, none of the authors examining clinical competency and clinical education examined the number or type of clinical hours used in programs to develop competency. Although Smiley (2019) did find that there was variation in the number of clinical hours in ADN and BSN programs, they did not determine if there was a statistically significant difference between the two types of programs. Examining the number and type of clinical hours used in ADN and BSN programs and comparing these hours is an initial step in identifying differences in the clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses and could be used to create ADN programs that create nurses that are better prepared to provide the same level of care as BSN graduates.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Benner (1984) created the novice-to-expert model, which explains how an individual gains knowledge and skills to move from the novice phase to the expert phase. Benner's theory is based on the Dreyfus model of skill acquisition and posits that clinical experience and time in the profession influence the speed in which an individual moves through the novice to expert phases (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, & Tanner, 2009). Benner theorized that with experience nurses move through five stages: novice, advanced beginner, competent, proficient, and expert.

Authors generally agree that nurses with more education and in the more expert stages of Benner's theory provide higher levels of care (Aiken, Cimiotti, et al., 2011; Bathish, Wilson, & Potempa, 2018; Bobay, Gentile, & Hagle, 2009; Cho et al., 2015; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Jan & Popescu, 2014). Conversely, the novice nurse has no experience in a situation where they are expected to perform (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009). The novice nurse lacks the confidence and experience to predict patient situations and to practice safe and effective care (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009). The novice nurse requires supervision to practice safely (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Murray, Sundin, Cope, 2019; Ozdemir, 2019). A novice nurse is generally considered a nursing student in the beginning of their clinical practice (Ozdemir, 2019).

Advanced beginners have some experience that allows them to recognize meaningful repeated situations but provide a marginal level of care (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009). Advanced beginners also possess the knowledge base needed but are continuing to develop skills and application of knowledge into practice (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Murray et al., 2019; Ozdemir, 2019). Advanced beginner nurses continue to need occasional support to practice safely and effectively and generally focus on skills and tasks rather than the overall patient condition (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Ozdemir, 2019). Newly graduated nurses and nurses within their first 6 months of practice are generally considered in the novice or advanced beginner level of Benner's (1984) theory (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Grochow, 2008; Murray et al., 2019; Jan & Popescu, 2014; Solem & Stewart, n.d.).

Competent nurses are better able to cope with a wider range of situations than the advanced beginner (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009). They are able to individualize nursing care to each of their patients and are able to predict standard patients' recovery (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Murray et al., 2019). They are developing confidence in their ability to care for patients and can provide safe and effective care without immediate supervision (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Murray et al., 2019). Competent nurses are continuing to develop their reflection and feedback on practice, which comes at later phases (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Ozdemir, 2019). These nurses have generally been in practice for 1 to 2 years (Ozdemir, 2019).

Proficient nurses have a broader understanding of their patients' conditions and are better at understanding the entirety of the patient's situation (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Jan & Popescu, 2014). Proficient nurses have developed their skills and knowledge sufficiently to enable them to respond appropriately to changing patient conditions (Benner, 1984; Murray et al., 2019; Ozdemir, 2019; Uhrenfeldt & Hall, 2007). Proficient nurses are also prepared to take on leadership roles when needed and mentor new nurses in the field (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Ozdemir, 2019). Nurses have generally worked in the profession for 3 or more years to become proficient (Ozdemir, 2019).

Expert nurses have a broad vision of nursing care; they are able to make critical decisions intuitively and possess the knowledge and skills to implement innovative solutions (Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; McHugh & Lake, 2010; Ozdemir, 2019). Expert nurses are better able to notice changes in conditions and intuitively predict problems and complications that may occur (Fraley, 2016; Ozdmir, 2019). Expert nurses are best prepared to not only mentor new nurses but also evaluate outcomes of the training programs for new nurses (Ozdmir, 2019; Thomas & Kellegren, 2017).

Proficiency increases with experience (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Belgen, Vaugn, & Goode, 2013; Benner, 1984; Clarke, Rockett, Salone, & Aiken, 2002; Ju-Hui & Sook-Hee, 2018), but studies indicate that experience alone is not sufficient to move through Benner's novice to expert phases—rather, the types of experiences and reflection on experiences are important to move into expert practice (Aiken, Cimiotti, Sloane, Smith, Flynn, & Neff, 2011; Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, Lake, & Cheney, 2009; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). There has also been no association between nurses' years of experience and the safety of patient care provided (Kutney-Lee, Sloane, & Aiken, 2013; Lee et al., 2018). This may be because even advanced beginner nurses are able to provide safe care and the emphasis on safety in clinical education (Potter, 2018; Tanicala, Scheffer, & Roberts, 2011).

The lack of consensus on the relationship between experience and attainment of expertise warrants further investigation. Specifically, no studies have addressed the correlation of the number of clinical hours or amount of clinical experience in prelicensure education and graduate nurse competencies, and the type of clinical education of skills lab hours, patient care clinical hours, and simulation hours relationship to competency as measured by the NCLEX. Furthermore, due to the differences in quality of care seen between ADN and BSN nurses, further research comparing the clinical education of the two groups is warranted. Therefore, examining the relationship between the number of prelicensure clinical hours, types of clinical hours, and NCLEX pass rates as well as comparing ADN and BSN clinical education is an initial step to take in examining the relationship between clinical hours and prelicensure nurse competency.

#### **Overview of the Manuscripts**

Nursing education has traditionally used clinical education to prepare nurses for practice as an essential portion of nursing education (Bradley et al., 2019; Forber et al., 2015; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al, 2018). However, there is little evidence to support the number of clinical education hours required for students to become competent new graduate nurses as measured by the NCLEX (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et

al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). Evidence also supports that clinical education time is split up into three primary areas—patient care clinical hours, skills lab hours, and simulation hours—yet there is little evidence to support which methods best correlate with NCLEX pass rates (NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018). Even though research shows that BSN nurses provide superior care to ADN nurses, there is little evidence showing differences in NCLEX pass rates between groups and no evidence showing significant differences in the clinical education of each group (Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007).

The purposes of the manuscripts were to determine whether there was a relationship between prelicensure clinical hours and competency, as measured by NCLEX pass rates, in the graduating nurses and determine whether there is a difference in NCLEX pass rates and clinical hours between BSN and ADN nursing graduates. I also compared the types of clinical hours of patient care hours, simulation hours, and lab hours to determine whether the type of clinical hours correlated with NCLEX pass rates, and I compared these hours between ADN and BSN groups to see whether there was a significant difference in the clinical education of these two groups. I used quantitative methods of comparing the secondary data of nursing program clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates to determine the relationship between clinical hours and competency.

#### Manuscript 1

Currently there is a lack of evidence to support the number of clinical hours required in prelicensure clinical education (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bowling et al., 2018; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). Furthermore, research shows that BSN prepared nurses are providing superior care to that of ADN nurses, but differences in NCLEX pass rates between the two program types has not been sufficiently explored (Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007).

Research Question: What are the concurrent effects of the total number of clinical hours and program type (ADN vs. BSN) on percentage of students that pass the NCLEX from each school 2019?

 $H_0$ : There are no concurrent effects of the total number of clinical hours and program type (ADN vs. BSN) on percentage of students that pass the NCLEX from each school 2019.

 $H_{\rm a}$ : There are concurrent effects of the total number of clinical hours and program type (ADN vs. BSN) on percentage of students that pass the NCLEX from each school 2019.

Nature of the study. I conducted a nonexperimental, descriptive, correlation study using a multiple linear regression model to determine the relationship between the number of clinical hours in prelicensure nursing programs and the type of nursing program of ADN and BSN and NCLEX pass rates. Specifically, I determined whether the number of prelicensure clinical or program type hours are predictive of NCLEX pass rates.

**Possible types and sources of data.** I collected data by calling the nursing schools and identifying the best person to contact regarding clinical education in the school. That member was contacted by phone, and if they agreed they were sent a short

12 question survey (Appendix A) that included demographic data (Appendix B) and questions about program type, clinical hours and the number of graduates, and the number who passed the NCLEX on the first attempt.

#### Manuscript 2

Evidence supports that BSN prepared nurses provide superior care to ADN prepared nurses (Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Although program statistics suggest that there may be a difference in the clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses, there is no published evidence supporting that there is a significant difference in the number of clinical hours in ADN and BSN programs (Smiley, 2019). Furthermore, there is a lack of evidence supporting the best amount of time to be spent in each clinical area, of skills lab, simulation, and patient care, and whether there are differences in the amount of time students spend in each area between BSN and ADN programs. Identifying the differences in the clinical education of these two groups may assist nurse educators in identifying the areas of clinical education that lead to best practice in new nurses and assist educators in creating programs to better prepare nurses for practice.

Research Question: What is the difference in number of clinical hours, simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs?

 $H_0$ : There is no difference in the means of the variables of simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs.

 $H_{\rm a}$ : There is a difference in the means of the variables of simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs.

**Nature of the study.** I conducted a quantitative, comparative analysis using a factorial multivariate analysis of variance MANOVA to determine whether there are differences between the number of clinical hours, simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours of ADN versus BSN prelicensure nursing programs.

**Possible types and sources of data.** I collected data by calling the nursing schools and identifying the best person to contact regarding clinical education in the school. That member was contacted by phone, and if they agreed they were sent a short 12 question survey (Appendix A) that included demographic data (Appendix B) and questions about program type, clinical hours and the number of graduates, and the number that passed the NCLEX on the first attempt.

#### Manuscript 3

Clinical education is an essential portion of prelicensure clinical education (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector, et al., 2018). In prelicensure nursing programs three types of clinical education are commonly used: simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours (NCSBN, 2005). Although there is evidence to support that up to 50% of patient care clinical hours can be replaced with simulation, there is no published evidence correlating the type of clinical hours and their relationship to NCLEX pass rates (Hayden et al., 2014; Schlairet & Fenster, 2012; Watson et al., 2012). Research Question: What is the relationship between simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs and the percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019?

 $H_0$ : There will be no relationship between simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in ADN and BSN and the percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019.

 $H_{\rm a}$ : There will be a relationship between simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs and percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019.

Nature of the study. I conducted a nonexperimental, descriptive, correlational study using a multiple linear regression model to determine the relationship between the type of clinical hours of lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours in prelicensure nursing programs and the percentage of students that pass the NCLEX. Specifically, this study was conducted to determine whether the number or type of clinical hours will predict if a student will pass the NCLEX.

**Possible types and sources of data**. I collected data by calling the nursing schools and identifying the best person to contact regarding clinical education in the school. That member was contacted by phone, and if they agreed they were sent a short 12 question survey (Appendix A) that included demographic data (Appendix B) and questions about program type, clinical hours and the number of graduates, and the number who passed the NCLEX on the first attempt.

#### Significance

This research addressed the gap of examining the relationship between clinical hours, type of nursing degree (ADN compared to BSN), and competency of newly graduated nurses as measured by passing the NCLEX. Findings from my study may assist nursing schools to determine if the current number of clinical hours is sufficient to produce graduating nurses better prepared to pass the NCLEX (see NCSBN, 2019). Examining the number and types of clinical hours in nursing programs and the differences in those hours between types of programs can also be used to support nursing faculty creating more efficient programs that produce qualified nurses prepared to stay at the bedside and help reduce the nursing shortage (see Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Forber et al, 2016; Fulcher & Mullin, 2011). Furthermore, comparing the differences in clinical education between ADN and BSN programs can help nurse educators identify the factors that that may lead to the gaps in the ability to provide care between ADN and BSN nurses and guide nursing faculty to develop ADN nurses that provide similar levels of care to BSN nurses, which can effect positive social change (see Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Fulcher & Mullin, 2011).

#### **Summary**

With the continued nursing shortage and nurses leaving practice due to feeling unprepared, it is essential that nurse educators determine best nursing clinical education practices to (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Monaghan, 2015; Nursing Solutions Inc., 2019; Odland, Sneltvdt, & Sörlie, 2014). Due to the lack of evidence to support the number of clinical hours in prelicensure nursing programs and the number of clinical hours in each area of prelicensure clinical education, there is a needs for further investigation. Furthermore, further research is needed comparing prelicensure clinical education of ADN and BSN programs due to the superior patient care that BSN prepared nurses provide (see Cabaniss, 2014; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018; Uley-Smith, 2004).

## Part 2: Manuscripts

## **Clinical Hours and Program Types Effects on NCLEX Pass Rates**

Kara Potter

MSN, San Jose State University, 2004

BSN, Norwich University 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2020
### **Outlet for Manuscript**

*Teaching and Learning in Nursing* is a scholarly, peer-reviewed journal with a target audience of associate degree nurse educators, and its goal is disseminating evidence in the practice of education. This journal focuses on associate degree nursing education, practice, administration, and research. Accepted types of manuscripts are manuscripts including research, practice improvement, education innovations, translation of nursing education research, and literature reviews. The submission requirements for this journal include:

- Abstract of 75-150 words.
- This journal requires the reference style used by the American Psychological Association 6th edition.
- Original research articles have a maximum length of 16 double-spaced pages, including all references, tables, charts, and figures.

Information about the journal can be accessed at the following:

https://www.journals.elsevier.com/teaching-and-learning-in-nursing

Information about submission requirements can be accessed at the following: https://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws\_home/706538?generatepdf=tr ue.

### Abstract

Clinical education is an essential portion of prelicensure clinical education. However, little is known about the relationship between clinical hours and National Council Licensure Examination (NCLEX) pass rates or whether program type is predictive of NCLEX pass rates. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between clinical hours, program type, and NCLEX pass rates. A total of 722 nursing schools were surveyed, with a final sample size of 107. Multiple linear regression analysis revealed that there was no correlation between program type and NCLEX pass rates or the total number of clinical hours in a school and NCLEX pass rates. The results reflect that both program types are adequately preparing students for the NCLEX. Future research could be conducted to determine if the type of clinical education students receive is related to NCLEX pass rates.

### Introduction

The United States is currently experiencing a shortage of qualified nurses at the bedside (Nursing Solutions Inc., 2019). Evidence suggests that nurses are leaving the bedside due to feeling unprepared for practice (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Odland, Sneltvedt, & Sörlie, 2014). Two factors that affect new nurses' preparedness to practice is prelicensure clinical education and the type of education they receive—either an associate's degree (ADN) or a bachelor's degree (BSN; Aiken, Sloane, Bruyneel, Van den Heede, & Sermeus, 2013; Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Bradley et al., 2019; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; National Council of State Boards of Nursing [NCSBN], 2005; Spector Hooper, Silvestre, & Qian, 2018;).

### Significance

New nurses not being adequately prepared for practice is referred to in the literature as the theory–practice gap (Hickerson, Taylor, & Terhaar, 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; Saifan, AbuRuz, & Masa'deh, 2015). There is a connection between the theory–practice gap and the increasing nursing shortage due to new nurses leaving preactice(Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Hickerson et al., 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; Monaghan, 2015; Odland et al., 2014; Spector et al., 2015). The turnover rate for new nurses in the first year of practice is 17.2% (Nursing Solutions Inc., 2019).

New nurses are leaving bedside practice due to feeling insufficiently prepared by their nursing education to cope with the realities of working as a nurse at the bedside (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Monaghan, 2015; Odland et al., 2014). New nurses lack confidence in their ability to practice as a nurse and have stated that their prelicensure education did not adequately prepare them for practice in the hospital setting (Hickey, 2010; Monaghan, 2015; Odland et al., 2014). New nurses have felt that there were significant discrepancies between how they were educated to practice and what their job as a registered nurse required of them in the hospitals where they were employed (Odland et al., 2014). Furthermore, new nurses felt that there was not enough dedicated training time in clinical in their prelicensure education, and they wanted more time to practice communication, organization, time management, and psychomotor skills (Hickey, 2010; Monaghan, 2015).

More research on prelicensure clinical education may help narrow the theory– practice gap for prelicensure nurses creating nurses better prepared to stay at the bedside (Caputi, 2018; Rice, 2015). Experience helps nurses gain expertise (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, Salone, & Silber, 2003; Belgen, Vaugn, & Goode, 200; Benner, 1984; Clarke, Rockett, Salone, & Aiken, 2002; Ju-Hui & Sook-Hee, 2018). In prelicensure clinical education, clinical hours provide this experience to nursing students (Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Frederiksen, 2017; NCSBN, 2005). Therefore, further research on the type of clinical hours that students are receiving during their prelicensure clinical education may assist nurse educators to better understand how clinical education affects a new nurse's preparation for entering practice and revise nursing programs to support best practices for prelicensure clinical education.

#### **Relevant Scholarship**

Clinical education is an essential portion of prelicensure nursing education (Bradley et al., 2019; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2016; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al, 2018). Despite the importance of clinical in nursing education clinical hours in prelicensure nursing programs vary greatly within and between program types (Smiley, 2019). Smiley also found that BSN programs clinical hours ranged from 432 to 960, and ADN programs ranged from 270 to 855. The great variability in clinical hours may be influenced by state regulations of clinical hours. Some states regulate the minimum number of clinical hours nursing students must complete in prelicensure nursing programs, whereas others do not (NCSBN, 2018, Spector, Hooper, Silvestre, & Qian, 2018). Even among the states that regulate clinical hours, the minimum number of clinical hours required vary from 400 to over 1,000 (NCSBN, 2018). A seminal study from the NCSBN found that most of the state boards of nursing surveyed thought that a minimum number of clinical hours should be mandated by the state nursing board (NCSBN, 2005). Research also supports that nursing students have met the minimum clinical competencies when they graduate from a board accredited nursing program (NCSBN, 2005; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015). However, students graduating nursing schools in different states or programs may have large variations in the number of clinical hours they complete, which may affect their preparedness to enter nursing practice (Benner, Chesla, & Tanner, 2009; Ju-Hui & Sook-Hee, 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019)

Although previous research stressed the importance of high quality clinical education, there is little evidence to support the number of hours required to provide a high quality nursing education to prelicensure nursing students (Benner, Sutphen, Leonard, & Day, 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). Research has also

revealed that nursing education lacks evidence to support the number of clinical hours needed to obtain competency (Bowling, Cooper, Kellish, Kubin, & Smith, 2018). Determining the relationship between prelicensure nursing education and the National Council Licensure exam (NCLEX) is an initial step in determining the clinical hours needed to obtain minimum competency.

Another factor of prelicensure nursing education is the type of degree that students choose for entry into practice. There are three types of nursing degrees, the ADN, the BSN, and a diploma, with the ADN and BSN degrees comprising the majority of nursing programs (Spector et al., 2018). Although ADN nursing programs produce the majority of new nurses, evidence supports that BSN prepared nurses are providing higher levels of care (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen, Goode, Park, Vaughn, & Spetz, 2013; Estabrooks, Midodzi, Cummings, Ricker, & Giovannetti, 2005; Spector et al., 2019; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Better patient outcomes are reported in hospitals that employ higher numbers of BSN nurses (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen, et al., 2013; Estabrooks, et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Authors also found that nurses with a BSN degree or higher also had lower rates of failure to rescue and appear to have improved clinical judgement as compared to diploma and ADN prepared nurses (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Belegen et al., 2013). Furthermore, nursing associations are calling for the BSN to be the minimum for entry into nursing practice and the Institute of Medicine has a goal of 80% BSN nurses by 2020 (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2019; Institute of Medicine, 2011). Despite this call

for more BSN prepared nurses, few studies have addressed the difference in NCLEX pass rates from BSN and ADN schools or compared whether degree type or number of clinical hours is more predicative of passing the NCLEX.

### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework used to guide this research is Benner's (1984) noviceto-expert theory. Benner theorized that nurses gain experience as they move through the five levels of practice of novice, advanced beginner, competent, proficient, and expert. Experience is essential for nurses to gain the knowledge and skills to move from a novice practitioner to an expert practitioner where they provide the highest level of care (Aiken, Cimiotti, et al., 2011; Bathish, Wilson, & Potempa, 2018; Benner, 1984; Bobay, Gentile, & Hagle, 2009; Cho et al., 2015; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Jan & Popescu, 2014). In prelicensure clinical education, experience is gained in the form of clinical education where nursing students practice their skills in the patient care environment and the simulated environment (Forber et al., 2016; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005). Despite this agreement on the need for experience to gain competency and clinical hours providing experience in prelicensure clinical education there is a dearth of literature exploring the relationship between prelicensure clinical hours and competency of nursing students and newly graduated nurses (Bowling et al. 2018). Previously there was no research examining the number of clinical hours in prelicensure programs and the relationship between those clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates, or how nursing program type of ADN or BSN correlates with NCLEX pass rates. Despite the research showing that clinical hours are important in nursing education and that BSN prepared nurses

provide higher levels of care than ADN nurses (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Bradley et al., 2019; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2016; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al, 2018; Tourangeau et al., 2007).

### Purpose

The purpose of this research was to determine if there is a relationship between the total number of clinical hours and program type of ADN or BSN in prelicensure nursing programs and the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX.

### **Research Question and Design**

The research question for this manuscript is: What is the relationship between the total number of clinical hours and program type of ADN or BSN in prelicensure nursing programs and the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX? I used descriptive quantitative approach to first identify the number and ranges in the numbers of clinical hours in nursing programs. The independent variables were the program type of ADN or BSN and the total number of clinical hours, and the dependent variable is the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX from each school.

### Methods

### **Participants**

The population for this study was ADN and BSN nursing schools in the United States whose graduates take the NCLEX. Programs with less than 10 graduates were excluded from the analysis due to the small sample being an inadequate representation of the clinical hours in a program's correlation with a student's ability to pass the NCLEX. Step programs for licensed practical nurses to become registered nurses were also excluded from the study because these graduates would have completed a significant portion of their clinical education in the practical nursing program.

### **Sample and Power**

A list of all the prelicensure nursing schools was compiled from each state board of nursing website in the United States. This list was then entered into an Excel spreadsheet and the random number generator was used to assign each school a random number. I then contacted each school in ascending order until the required sample size was met. I used G\*-power to calculate the sample size using multiple linear regression model with two predictors, a medium effect size of 0.15, an alpha of 0.05, and a power of 0.95, which yielded a sample size of 107. I used the first 107 responses included in this analysis after the removal of outliers and incomplete data sets.

## Variables/Sources of Data

I analyzed the data using multiple linear regression to determine the extent to which a nursing program's type and number of clinical hours explain the variance in the percentage of NCLEX pass rates. Multiple linear regression requires at least two independent variables and a dependent variable which must be continuous (Warner, 2013). The independent variables for this research were school type of ADN or BSN and number of clinical hours. The dependent variable was the percentage of students who graduated in 2019 who passed the NCLEX on the first attempt. These data were evaluated to meet the requirements for the multiple regression analysis including multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals. Multicollinearity was evaluated by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. Outliers were identified using Mahalanobis distance, and meeting the assumptions of normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals was evaluated by examining the plots of normal residual.

### **Instrumentation or Measures**

I called the first 250 schools and used a template asking nursing offices for the contact information for the faculty that would now the programs clinical hours and for the percentage of students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 (see Appendix C). When I was directed to contact other people in the program, the second script was used to ask if I could send them a survey (see Appendix C). I sent an e-mail with a link to the survey to people who agreed to fill out the survey. If the person did not agree, no further contacts were made. Once a person agreed to fill out the survey, a link to an online survey through Questionpro was e-mailed to them.

During data collection, the COVID-19 pandemic occurred, so after the initial 250 participants were contacted data collection methods needed to be changed due to campuses being closed. For the remainder of the surveys, participants were contacted via e-mail in groups of 50 from publicly available contact information. I generally contacted the program coordinators or clinical coordinators from the publicly available contact information, as they were usually the person I was directed to when I called the schools. After the initial e-mail requesting participation, participants were sent reminder e-mails 2 weeks apart until the survey was completed. No more than two reminder e-mails were

sent to any individual. This research was approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board with an approval number of 03-11-20-0976767.

Finally, I downloaded an excel spreadsheet from Questionpro that included the state the school is located in, the school name, the degree type it offers ADN or BSN, the total number of clinical hours in the program, the number of skills lab hours in the program, simulation hours in the program, and patient care clinical hours in the program, and percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 from the survey responses to be entered into SPSS 25. I created a table with demographic data (see Appendix B) for the analysis and generalizability of the data.

### **Design and Analysis**

Once the data were collected, they were analyzed it using SPSS version 25 and multiple linear regression to determine prelicensure nursing schools' clinical hours correlation with percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019, as well as the type of school ADN or BSN and the correlation with the percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019.

#### Results

A total of 800 schools with nursing education programs were randomly selected from the list of all the state approved schools in the United States. After closed programs, bridge programs, and programs where contact information could not be found were removed from the sample, a total of 722 schools were e-mailed to request participation in the study. A total of 119 surveys were returned. The COVID-19 pandemic occurred at the time of sampling, which may have affected response rate. The total sample of 119 schools came from 40 states with no more than nine responses from the same state. Sixtynine responses came from associate degree programs, whereas the remaining 50 were from bachelor's degree programs. The total number of clinical hours ranged from a minimum of 226 to a maximum of 1,240. These data were found to have a broad representation of prelicensure nursing schools in the United States.

Data were entered into SPSS and evaluated for multivariate outliers using Mahalanobis distance and incomplete responses. Two multivariate outliers were identified and removed along with eight schools that had less than 10 graduates and two responses with incomplete data sets. This left a final sample size of 107 (n = 107) of nursing schools to be incorporated in the linear regression model and to be further tested for meeting the assumptions of linear regression.

### **Tests of Assumptions**

The assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were evaluated.

**Multicollinearity**. Multicollinearity was evaluated by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. All bivariate correlations were small to medium (see Table 1); therefore, the assumptions of multicollinearity have been met. Table 1 contains the correlation coefficients.

Table 1

Correlation Coefficients Among Study I reactor Variables				
Variable	% of	Program	Total	
	students	type	number of	
	passing the		clinical	
	NCLEX		hours	
% of students passing the	1.00	0.65	0.139	

Correlation Coefficients Among Study Predictor Variables

NCLEX			
Program type	0.065	1.00	0.321
Total number of clinical	0.139	0.321	1.00
hours			

*Note*. *n* = 107.

### Normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals.

Normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were evaluated by examining the normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual (see Figure 1) and the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 2). The examinations indicated that there were slight violations of these assumptions. The deviation of the points from the straight line (see Figure 1), diagonal from the bottom left to the top right, indicates that the assumption of normality was slightly violated (Remler & Van Ryzin, 2015). The lack of a clear or systematic pattern in the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 2) supports the reasonability of the assumptions being met.



Figure 1. Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals.



Figure 2. Scatterplot of the standardized residuals.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 2 contains the descriptive statistics of the continuous study. The

dichotomous variable of program type had a median of 0 and a mode of 0.

Table 2

means and Standard Deviations for Quantitative Study variables				
Variable	М	SD		
% of students passing the NCLEX	91.6766844172	7.452310038		
Total number of clinical hours	692.551	210.2795		

Means and Standard Deviations for Quantitative Study Variables

# **Inferential Results**

Standard multiple linear regression,  $\alpha = .05$  (two-tailed), was used to examine the influence of program type (ADN = 0, BSN = 1) and total number of clinical hours in a program on the percentage of students from each school that passed the NCLEX. The

independent variables were program type and the total number of clinical hours in the program. The dependent variable was the percentage of students passing the NCLEX. Preliminary analyses were conducted to assess whether the assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were met; minor violations were noted (see *Tests of Assumptions*). The model as a whole was not able to significantly predict NCLEX pass rates, F = 1.044, p > 0.05,  $R^2 = 0.020$ . Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained. Furthermore, neither of the independent variables of the program type or total number of clinical hours were significant predictors of NCLEX pass rates with p values of 0.505 and 0.414 respectively. Neither program type nor the number of clinical hours in the program were significant predictors of NCLEX pass rates. Therefore, I concluded that NCLEX pass rates are predicted by factors not included in this research.

### Discussion

### Interpretation

These data showed that the program type and total number of clinical hours were not predictive of the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX for entry into practice. My findings supported those of previous researchers like Cabaniss (2014) that both ADN and BSN programs adequately prepare nursing students for the NCLEX. Furthermore, these data indicated that the number of clinical hours do not influence NCLEX pass rates.

My results showed that neither ADN nor BSN programs had better NCLEX pass rates, so neither program type was superior in preparing nurses for the NCLEX (see Cabaniss, 2014). Both program types also had similar limitations in education and clinical education (Loversidge et al., 2018; Melnyk et al., 2018). Baccalaureate programs have limitations to their educational programs that may not be adequately preparing nurses for practice (Hickey, 2010). Many states and organizations who approve nursing programs require the same minimum NCEX pass rate for accreditation and approval, regardless of program type (Accreditation Commission for Nursing Education, n.d.; California State Board of Nursing, 2020; Nevada State Board of Nursing, n.d.), which may account for both program types having no significant difference in NCLEX pass rates.

The results of my study did not show correlation between the number of clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates, meaning that nursing programs do have sufficient clinical hours for NCLEX preparation (see NCSBN, n.d.). Similarly, passing the NCLEX is the minimum standard for entry into practice, so programs with minimal hours in each area may be adequately preparing nurses for the NCLEX but may not be adequately preparing nurses for clinical practice (see Hickerson, Taylor, & Terhaar, 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; NCSBN, 2020; Odland et al., 2014; Saifan, AbuRuz, & Masa'deh, 2015; Spector et al., 2015). This lack of correlation also suggests that the NCLEX does not adequately measure the skills and competencies obtained through clinical since nurses state that they did not have enough training time in clinical to adequately prepare them for practice (see Hickey, 2010; Monaghan, 2015).

The lack of correlation between the number of clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates could also indicate that the types of clinical education and clinical experiences may be more important in clinical education than only the number of hours spent in the clinical setting, which aligns with Benner's (1984) novice-to-expert theory. There are large variations in clinical education practices such as number of hours, number of days, and length of clinical days across clinical education programs (NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018), types of education techniques, and types of clinical experiences (Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Fredriksen, 2017; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). These may have greater influence on nurses obtaining competency than the number of hours the students spend in the clinical setting. For instance, researchers support that the quality of clinical education is the most important factor in preparing qualified nurses and nursing students gaining expertise (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). But frequently the clinical portion of the student's education is taught by adjunct faculty (Gies, 2013), who are often not sufficiently oriented, evaluated, or given the resources that full-time faculty receive (Ballantyne, Berret, & Harst, 2010; Brannagan & Oriol, 2014; Gies, 2013; Hunt, McGee, Gutteridge, & Hughes 2016; Jacobson, 2013; Langen, 2011; Louis, 2009; Mann & De Gagne, 2017; Milliken & Jurgens, 2008; Morton, 2012; Vinales, 2015), which can affect the quality of the clinical education students receive.

### Limitations

One limitation of this study is that it examined only the total number of clinical hours in a program and the type of program of BSN or ADN and NCLEX pass rates. There are many other variables that may affect NCLEX pass rates that are not included in this study. Furthermore, there may have been some ambiguity in the survey questions on what constitutes clinical hours as some responses included simulation and skills lab hours where others did not. This may have caused the total number of clinical hours to be a misrepresentation of the actual number of clinical hours in a program. Also, schools that had high NCLEX pass rates may have been more likely to report their pass rates which may have falsely skewed the results. Finally, the low response rate due to the COVID-19 pandemic may have limited the generalizability of the results.

## Implications

**Implications to the discipline.** I did not find any correlation between the number of clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates. This supports previous research that the quality of clinical education may is more important than the quantity (see Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradely et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). This lack of correlation also suggests that since passing the NCLEX is the minimum for entry into practice that the NCLEX may not adequately measure competencies obtained in the clinical environment (see NCSBN, 2020).

The results show that both ADN and BSN programs adequately prepare nurses for the NCLEX. However, the previous studies showed that BSN nurses provide higher levels of care (Aiken et al., 2003; Aiken et al., 2013; Blegen, et al., 2013; Estabrooks, et al., 2005; Spector et al., 2019; Tourangeau et al., 2007). My findings show that both ADN and BSN programs prepare nursing students to take the NCLEX.

**Implications for theory.** My research showed that the number of hours in clinical was not related to success on the NCLEX. The lack of correlation between clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates supported the novice-to-expert theory that experience alone is not

enough to gain expertise, but rather good experiences lead to expertise (see Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector, et al., 2018).

**Implications for social change.** My findings supported the social change of supporting both ADN and BSN schools for preparing nurses for the minimum entry into practice of passing the NCLEX. Furthermore, my findings found that all programs appear to have adequate clinical hours to meet the minimum competency of passing the NCLEX. Although passing the NCLEX is the minimum for entry into practice (NCSBN, 2020). The lack of correlation between NCLEX pass rates and clinical hours suggest that the NCLEX does not measure competencies obtained in clinical. This information can be used to guide further research in clinical education and NCLEX competencies.

### Recommendations

Further research is needed in clinical education. Since I found no correlation between the total number of clinical hours in a program and NCLEX pass rates, other factors may account for the variation in NCLEX pass rates across programs. Therefore more research is warranted to identify if other factors such as clinical education methods used, the areas in which students spend their clinical time, number of days in clinical, and number of hours each day in clinical correlate with NCLEX pass rates (see Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al., 2018; Smiley, 2019; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Furthermore, more research is warranted on clinical competencies to determine if clinical competencies are measured by the NCLEX.

# Conclusion

These data showed no correlation between program type of ADN and NCLEX pass rates or the total number of clinical hours in a program and NCLEX pass rates. This may be due to both program types adequately preparing students for the NCLEX, and other clinical factors affecting NCLEX pass rates. Further research is warranted on the differences in education in ADN and BSN programs to examine what factors in the education may lead to the higher levels of care provided by BSN nurses and on the variations in clinical education if they might account for some of the variability in NCEX pass rates.

### References

- Accreditation Commission for Nursing Education. (n.d.) General resources for nursing programs. Retrieved from https://www.acenursing.org/for-programs/general-resources/
- Ackerson, K., & Stiles, K. A. (2018). Value of nurse residency programs in retaining new graduate nurses and their potential effect on the nursing shortage. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(6), 282–288. doi:10.3928/00220124-20180517-09
- Aiken, L. H., Cimiotti, J. P., Sloane, D. M., Smith, H. L., Flynn, L., & Neff, D. F. (2011).
  Effects of nurse staffing and nurse education on patient deaths in hospitals with different nurse work environments. *Medical Care*, 49, 1047–1053.
  doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182330b6e
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Cheung, R. B., Salone, D. M., & Silber, J. H. (2003).
  Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 290, 1617–1623. doi:10.1001/jama.290.12.1617
- Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., & Sermeus, W. (2013).
  Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 50(2), 143–153. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.11.009
- Anbari, A. B., & Vogelsmeier, A. (2018). Associate degree in nursing-to-bachelor of science in nursing graduates' education and their perceived ability to keep

patients safe. Journal of Nursing Education, 57(5), 300-303.

doi:10.3928/01484834-20180420-09

- Ballantyne, S., Berret, B., & Harst, W. (2010). Fulltime faculty perceptions of leadership in adjunct faculty to maintain Franciscan identity. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, 9, 1–9. Retrieved from https://www.aabri.com/rhej.html.
- Bathish, M., Wilson, C., & Potempa, K. (2018). Deliberate practice and nurse competence. *Applied Nursing Research*, 40, 106–109. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2018.01.002
- Benner, P. E. (1984). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in clinical nursing practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Benner, P. E., Chesla, C. A., & Tanner, C. A. (2009). Expertise in nursing practice: Caring, clinical judgment & ethics. New York, NY: Springer.
- Benner, P., Sutphen, M., Leonard, V., & Day, L. (2010). Educating nurses: A call for radical transformation. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Blegen, M. A., Goode, C. J., Park, S. H., Vaughn, T., & Spetz, J. (2013). Baccalaureate education in nursing and patient outcomes. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 43(2), 89–94. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31827f2028
- Bobay, K., Gentile, D. L., & Hagle, M. E. (2009). The relationship of nurses' professional characteristics to levels of clinical nursing expertise. *Applied Nursing Research*, 22(1), 48–53. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2007.03.00

Bowling, A. M., Cooper, R., Kellish, A., Kubin, L., & Smith, T. (2018). No evidence to support number of clinical hours necessary for nursing competency. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 39, 27–36. doi:10.1016/2017.12.012

Bradley, C. S., Johnson, B. K., Dreifuerst, K. T., White, P., Conde, S. K., Meakim, C. H., ... Childress, R. M. (2019). Regulation of simulation use in United States prelicensure nursing programs. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 33, 17–25. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2019.04.004

- Brannagan, K. B., & Oriol, M. (2014). A Model for Orientation and Mentoring of Online Adjunct Faculty in Nursing. *Nursing Education Perspectives (National League for Nursing)*, 35(2), 128–130. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-35.2.128
- Cabaniss, R. (2014). Faculty identification of competencies addressing quality and safety education in Alabama associate degree nursing education programs. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *9*(4), 181–192. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2014.05.004
- California Board of Registered Nursing (2016) California board of registered nursing 2014-2015 annual school report. Retrieved from

http://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/education/schoolrpt14-15.pdf

- California State Board of Nursing. (2020) Education. Retrieved from https://www.rn.ca.gov/education/index.shtml
- Caputi, L. (2018) Think like a nurse. Rolling Meadows, IL: Windy City Publishers.
- Cho, E., Sloane, D. M., Kim, E. Y., Kim, S., Choi, M., Yoo, I. Y., ... Aiken, L. H. (2015). Effects of nurse staffing, work environments, and education on patient mortality:

An observational study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(2), 535–542. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.08.006

- Estabrooks, C. A., Midodzi, W. K., Cummings, G. G., Ricker, K. L., & Giovannetti, P. (2005). The impact of hospital nursing characteristics on 30-day mortality. *Nursing Research*, 54(2), 74–84. doi:10.1097/00006199-200503000-00002
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149–1160. doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Forber, J., DiGiacomo, M., Carter, B., Davidson, P., Phillips, J., & Jackson, D. (2016). In pursuit of an optimal model of undergraduate nurse clinical education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 21, 83–92. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.09.007
- Gies, M. L. (2013). Mentoring Clinical Adjunct Nursing Faculty. International Journal for Human Caring, 17(3), 35–40. doi:10.20467/1091-5710.17.3.35
- Hickerson, K. A., Taylor, L. A., & Terhaar, M. F. (2016). The preparation-practice gap:
  An integrative literature review. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*,
  47(1), 17–23. doi:10.3928/00220124-20151230-06
- Hickey, M. T. (2010). Baccalaureate nursing graduates' perceptions of their clinical instructional experiences and preparation for practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(1), 35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2009.03.001

- Hickey, M. T. (2010). Baccalaureate nursing graduates' perceptions of their clinical instructional experiences and preparation for practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(1), 35–41. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2009.03.001
- Hunt, L.A., McGee, P., Gutteridge, R., & Hughes, M. (2016). Failing securely: The processes and support which underpin English nurse mentors' assessment decisions regarding under-performing students. *Nurse Education Today, 39*, 79–86. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2016.01.011
- Hussein, M. T. & Osuji, J. (2016). Bridging the theory-practice dichotomy in nursing:
  The role of nurse educators. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 7(3), 20–
  25. doi:10.5430/jnep.v7n3p20
- Institute of Medicine. (2011). *The future of nursing: leading change, advancing health*. Washington D.C.: National Academies Press.
- Jacobson K. (2013). Building the roadmap to adjunct faculty success. *Techniques*, 88(4), 10–11. https://www.acteonline.org/publications/techniques/
- Jan, L. K., & Popescu, L. (2014). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in both social work and nursing practice. Social Work Review / Revista de Asistenta Sociala, 13(1), 91–99. Retrieved from http://www.revistadeasistentasociala.ro/
- Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., & Friebe, T.-R. (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 29, 116– 126. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006

Jeppesen, K. H., Christiansen, S., & Frederiksen, K. (2017). Education of student nurses - A systematic literature review. *Nurse Education Today*.
doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.05.005

Langen J. (2011). Evaluation of adjunct faculty in higher education institutions.
Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 36, 185–196.
doi:10.1080/02602930903221501

- Louis D. (2009). Adjuncts: Solutions for a mistreated majority. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 55(6), A72. Retrieved from https://www.chronicle.com/
- Loversidge, J., Yen, P.-Y., Chipps, E., Gallagher-Ford, L., Genter, L., & Buck, J. (2018).
  Top-of-license nursing practice, part 2: Differentiating BSN and ADN perceptions of top-of-license activities. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 48(6), 329–334.\_doi:10.1097/NNA.000000000000623
- Mann, C., & De Gagne, J., C. (2017). Experience of novice clinical adjunct faculty: A qualitative study. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 48(4), 167–174. doi:10.3928/00220124-20170321-07
- Melnyk, B. M., Gallagher, F. L., Zellefrow, C., Tucker, S., Thomas, B., Sinnott, L. T., & Tan, A. (2018). The first US study on nurses' evidence-based practice competencies indicates major deficits that threaten healthcare quality, safety, and patient outcomes. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, *15*(1), 16–25. doi:10.1111/wvn.12269

- Milliken T. F., & Jurgens J. C. (2008). Assessing the needs of human services adjunct faculty: Uncovering strategies for retaining quality instructors. *Human Service Education*, 28(1), 29–43. Retrieved from https://www.humanservicesedu.org/
- Monaghan, T. (2015). A critical analysis of the literature and theoretical perspectives on theory–practice gap amongst newly qualified nurses within the United Kingdom.
   *Nurse Education Today*, 35(8), e1–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.006
- Morton D. (2012). Adjunct faculty embraced: The institution's responsibility. *Christian Education Journal*, 9, 396–407. doi:10.1177/073989131200900211
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2005). Clinical instruction in prelicensure nursing programs. Retrieved from

https://www.ncsbn.org/Final\_Clinical\_Instr\_Pre\_Nsg\_programs.pdf

- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2018) Educational programs. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/670.htm
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2020). Passing Standard. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/2630.htm

Nevada State Board of Nursing. (n.d.) Education. Retrieved from https://nevadanursingboard.org/education/

Nursing Solutions Inc. (2019). 2019 National health care retention & R.N. staffing report. Retrieved from http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Files/assets/library/retentioninstitute/2019%20National%20Health%20Care%20Retention%20Report.pdf

- Odland, L. H., Sneltvedt, T., & Sörlie, V. (2014). Responsible but unprepared:
  Experiences of newly educated nurses in hospital care. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 14(5), 538–543. doi: 10.1016.2014.05.005
- Remler, D.K., & Van Ryzin, G.G. (2015). Research methods in practice: Strategies for description and causation (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Rice, E. (2015). Predictors of successful clinical performance in associate degree nursing students. *Nurse Educator*, *40*(4), 207–211. doi:10.1097/NNE.
- Saifan, A., AbuRuz, M. E., & Masa'deh, R. (2015). Theory practice gaps in nursing education: A qualitative perspective. *Journal of Social Sciences / Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 11(1), 20–29. doi:10.3844/jsssp.2015.20.29
- Smiley, R. A. (2019). Survey of simulation use in prelicensure nursing programs:
  Changes and advancements, 2010–2017. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 9(4), 48-61. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(19)30016-X.
- Spector N., Blegen M.A., Silvestre J., Barnsteiner J., Lynn M.R., Ulrich B.... Alexander
   M. (2015). Transition to practice study in hospital settings. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 5(4), 24–38. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(15)30031-4
- Spector, N., Hooper, J., Silvestre, J., & Qian, H. (2018). Board of nursing approval of registered nurse education programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 8(4), 22–23. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(17)30178-3
- Torabi, M., & Zadeh, N. M. (2018). The effect of clinical instruction based on mentorship patterns on clinical competencies of the nursing students. Journal of

*Research in Medical and Dental Science*. 6(2), 305–310. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/

- Tourangeau, A. E., Doran, D. M., McGillis Hall, L., O'Brien Pallas, L., Pringle, D., Tu, J.
  V., & Cranley, L. A. (2007). Impact of hospital nursing care on 30-day mortality for acute medical patients. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *57*(1), 32–44. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04084.x
- Vinales, J. (2015). Exploring failure to fail in pre-registration nursing. *British Journal of Nursing*, 24(5), 284–288. doi:10.12968/bjon.2015.24.5.284
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

# Differences in Clinical Hour Types Between Associate Degree and Bachelor's Degree Nursing Programs

Kara Potter

MSN, San Jose State University, 2004

BSN, Norwich University 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2020

### **Outlet for Manuscript**

*Nurse Education in Practice* is a scholarly, peer-reviewed journal with a target audience of nurse educators and a goal of disseminating evidence in the practice of education. This journal focuses on topics important to nursing education and has recently added sections for clinical education, midwifery education, and doctorate studies research. Accepted types of manuscripts are original research, review articles, issues for debate, development and innovation, guest editorials, and any of these types of manuscripts specific to clinical education, midwifery education, and doctorate studies. The submission requirements for this journal include:

- Abstract of no more than 200 words.
- This journal uses a standard reference template package available at <a href="http://www.endnote.com/support/enstyles.asp">http://www.endnote.com/support/enstyles.asp</a>
- Original research articles have a maximum length of 6,000 words including in-text references, abstract, keywords and references

Information about the journal can be accessed at the following:

https://www.journals.elsevier.com/nurse-education-in-practice

Information about submission requirements can be accessed at the following:

https://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws\_home/623062?generatepdf=tr

ue

#### Abstract

Nursing education for entry into nursing practice is primarily composed of two types of nursing degrees: the associate degree in nursing (ADN) and the bachelor's degree in nursing (BSN). But there are significant differences in the education of ADN nurses and BSN nurses such as total number of education hours, student learning outcomes, and areas of focus in their education. Healthcare institutions that employ higher numbers of nurses who hold a BSN or above have lower morbidity and mortality rates. However, little research has evaluated the difference in the clinical education of ADN nurse and BSN degree nurses. The purpose of this study was to determine whether there are differences in total number of clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, skills lab hours, and simulation hours between ADN and BSN nursing programs. Data were analyzed from 168 nursing schools. BSN programs had significantly more clinical hours and patient care clinical hours than ADN programs. The higher number of clinical hours may be one factor that improves the quality of care new nurses can provide. This information can be used to guide educators to create clinical education programs to better prepare nurses to improve patient outcomes.

### Introduction

Nursing education for entry into nursing practice is primarily composed of two types of nursing degrees: the associate degree in nursing (ADN) and the bachelor's degree in nursing (BSN; Spector, Hooper, Silvestre, & Qian, 2018). Better patient outcomes occur in hospitals that hire higher levels of BSN or higher educated nurses (Aiken, Sloane, Bruyneel, Van den Heede, & Sermeus, 2013; Blegen, Goode, Park, Vaughn, & Spetz, 2013; Estabrooks, Midodzi, Cummings, Ricker, & Giovannetti, 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). This may be due to significant differences in the education of ADN nurses and BSN nurses such as total number of education hours, student learning outcomes, and areas of focus in their education (Cabaniss, 2014; Halstead, 2019; Loversidge et al, 2018; Poster et al., 2005). Further, the clinical education of nurses is well recognized as the portion of prelicensure education that best prepares nurses for practice. However, there is little research comparing the clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses (Bradley et al., 2019; Forber, et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; National Council of State Boards of Nursing [NCSBN], 2005; Spector et al., 2018).

### Significance/Importance

Hospitals that employ more highly educated nurses have lower rates of morbidity and mortality (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, Salone, & Silber, 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Nurses with a BSN degree or higher have also been found to have lower rates of failure to rescue and improved clinical judgement compared to diploma an ADN prepared nurses (Aiken, Clarke, et al, 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Belegen et al., 2013). This evidence of improved patient outcomes in hospitals with higher educated nurses has been used to mandate that the BSN degree should be the minimum for entry into practice as a registered nurse and the Institute of Medicine to call for 80% of nurses to be BSN prepared by 2020 (American Association of Colleges of Nursing, 2019; Institute of Medicine, 2011). However, there is a lack of research on the clinical education of these two groups of nurses (Cabaniss, 2014; Loversidge et al, 2018). Examining the clinical education between these two groups may help explain why BSN nurses are able to provide superior care (Aiken, Cimiotti, et al., 2011; Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, Lake, & Cheney, 2009; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018).

### **Relevant Scholarship**

Previous research on the clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses has shown some differences in the clinical competencies between groups (Cabaniss, 2014; Loversidge et al., 2018). ADN prepared nurses, compared with BSN prepared nurses, were found to have difficulty coordinating care for patients in an interdisciplinary team, analyzing data, giving handoff reports, and beginning critical conversations with the interdisciplinary team (Loversidge et al., 2018). ADN programs in Alabama lacked the integration of quality and safety education for nurses' competencies into their clinical education (Cabaniss, 2014). ADN students have also been lacking evidence-based practice competencies (Melynk et al., 2019). Although BSN students have also been found to lack evidence-based competencies, BSN students did meet the evidence-based competencies to a greater extent compared to ADN students (Melnyk et al., 2019). Furthermore, authors do not agree on minimum standards for clinical competencies, and although ADN have met the minimum clinical competencies to become a registered nurse, they may benefit from further clinical education to provide a higher level of care (Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Cabaniss, 2014; Diede, McNish, & Coose, 2000; Fisher, 2014; Garside & Nhemachena, 2013; Northrup-Snyder, Menkens, & Dean, 2017; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018).

Despite the research supporting that BSN nurses are able to provide care that leads to better patient outcomes than ADN nurses, there is a dearth of information comparing the clinical education of these two groups (Cabaniss, 2014; Diede et al., 2000; Garside & Nhemachena, 2013; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Although it is well established that BSN programs contain more credit hours than ADN programs there is no literature comparing clinical hours and composition between these two groups (Halstead, 2019; NCSBN, 2005). Smiley (2019) researched simulation hours in prelicensure programs, and their findings suggested there was variation in the number of clinical hours between ADN and BSN programs but did not determine if there was a significant variation in the number of hours in the two program types, or if there were variations in where the students in each program spent their clinical time. Other research in the area of clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses has focused on clinical competencies of these two degree types and the clinical experiences in ADN and BSN programs (Cabaniss, 2014; Loversidge et al., 2018; Oermann, 1998). Finally, much of the research surrounding clinical education in nursing education is quite old and may not be relevant to todays practice (Giddens, 2006; Gignac-Caille & Oermann, 2001; Oermann,

1998; Oermann & Standfest, 1997; Primm, 1987). Therefore, further research in the areas of prelicensure clinical education is warranted.

Prelicensure clinical education time is generally completed between three distinct areas of skills labs, patient care, and simulation (NCSBN, 2005). Skills labs are generally a controlled lab environment where students are provided with didactic demonstrations, and then hands on practice of clinical skills (Haraldseid, Friberg, & Aase, 2015; Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Frederiksen, 2017). Patient care is where students are placed in a clinical facility and practice the skill they have learned while caring for actual patients (Forber et al., 2016; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005). Finally, simulation provides students with a simulated patient experience to practice clinical skills on manikins or simulated patients for noninvasive skills (Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016).

Often skills lab and simulation hours are regulated by boards of nursing, with the majority of clinical taking place in patient care, and a small portion of time is spent in skills lab to learn and practice new skills (Bradley et al., 2019; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2016; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al, 2018). Patient care clinical hours are essential in nursing education for nurses to develop the skills necessary for practice in the clinical setting, supporting boards of nursing's decision to regulate the number of hours spent outside of patient care (Benner, Chesla, & Tanner, 2009; Forber, 2016; Grealish et al., 2018). However, research is now showing that up to 50% of clinical time may be spent in simulation without any negative effects on nursing students (Hayden, Smiley, Alexander, Kardong-Edgren, & Jeffries; 2014; Meyer, Connors, Hou, & Gajewski, 2011; Schlairet &
Fenster, 2012; Sportsman, Schumacker, & Hamilton, 2011; Watson et al., 2012). However, there is no published research evaluating the types of clinical hours between program types of ADN and BSN.

## **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework guiding this research is Benner's (1984) novice-toexpert theory. Benner theorized that nurses gain experience as they move through the five levels of practice of novice, advanced beginner, competent, proficient, and expert. Experience is essential for nurses to gain the knowledge and skills to move from a novice practitioner to an expert practitioner where they provide the highest level of care (Aiken, Cimiotti, et al., 2011; Bathish, Wilson, & Potempa, 2018; Benner, 1984; Bobay, Gentile, & Hagle, 2009; Cho et al., 2015; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Jan & Popescu, 2014). In prelicensure clinical education, experience is gained in the form of clinical education where nursing students practice their skills in the patient care environment and the simulated environment (Forber et al., 2016; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005). Despite this agreement on the need for experience to gain competency and clinical hours, offering experience in prelicensure clinical education there is a dearth of literature exploring the relationship between prelicensure clinical hours and competency of nursing students and newly graduated nurses (Bowling et al., 2018).

# Purpose

The purpose of this research was to determine if there was a difference in number of clinical hours, simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs. BSN prepared nurses provide a higher level of care than ADN prepared nurse even when controlling for experience (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Currently there is no research establishing the differences in the clinical education of ADN and BSN nurses. Discovering if there is a significant difference in the areas in which ADN and BSN nursing students spend their clinical hours can be used to help identify the education practices in BSN programs that lead to BSN prepared nurses providing higher levels of patient care.

#### **Research Question and Design**

The research question for this comparative analysis study was: What is the difference in number of clinical hours, simulation hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs? The factors include the program type of ADN or BSN, and the dependent or response variables include total number of clinical hours, skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours.

#### Methods

The population for this study was ADN and BSN nursing schools in the United States whose graduates take the National Council Licensure Exam (NCLEX). Programs with less than 10 graduates were excluded from the analysis due to the small sample being an inadequate representation of the clinical hours in a program's correlation with a student's ability to pass the NCLEX. Step programs for licensed practical nurses to become registered nurses were also excluded from the study because these graduates would have completed a significant portion of their clinical education in the practical nursing program.

# **Sample and Power**

A list of all the prelicensure nursing schools was compiled from each state board of nursing website in the United States. This list was then entered into an Excel spreadsheet, and the random number generator was used to assign each school a random number. I then contacted each school in ascending order until the required sample size was met. I used G\*Power to calculate a sample size using a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) analysis with two groups and four response variables, an effect size of 0.06025, an alpha of 0.05, and a power of 0.8 a sample size of 196 is required (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009).

#### Variables/Sources of Data

I used a MANOVA to analyze these data. This research contains a categorical factor of program type of either BSN or ADN and four discrete numeric variables of the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, the number of patient care clinical hours, and the number of simulation hours. These data meet the requirements for a MANOVA (see Warner, 2013), as there are more than one numeric dependent variables and one nominal factor. Furthermore, these data came from independent random responses. These data would be further evaluated if they met the assumptions of normal distribution in groups and equal covariance matrices. I expected that the means of all of the clinical hours would be higher in BSN programs compared to ADN programs, as

BSN programs have higher credit hours and therefore may have more clinical time to be distributed across all clinical areas (Halstead, 2019; NCSBN, 2005).

#### **Instrumentation or Measures**

I called the first 250 schools and used a template asking nursing offices for the contact information for the faculty that would now the programs clinical hours and for the percentage of students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 (see Appendix C). When I was directed to contact other people in the program the second script was used asking if I could send them a survey (see Appendix C). I sent an email with a link to the survey to people who agreed to fill out the survey. If the person did not agree, no further contacts were made. Once a person agreed to fill out the survey, a link to an online survey through Questionpro was emailed to them. This research was approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board with an approval number of 03-11-20-0976767.

During data collection the COVID-19 pandemic occurred and after the initial 250 participants were contacted data collection methods needed to be changed due to campuses being closed. For the remainder of the survey's participants were contacted via email, in groups of 50, from publicly available contact information. I generally contacted the program coordinators or clinical coordinators from the publicly available contact information as they were usually the person I was directed to when I called the schools. After the initial email requesting participation, participants were sent reminder emails 2 weeks apart until the survey was completed, no more than two reminder emails were sent to any individual.

Finally, I downloaded an excel spreadsheet from Questionpro that included the state the school is located in, the school name, the degree type it offers ADN or BSN, the total number of clinical hours in the program, the number of skills lab hours in the program, simulation hours in the program, and patient care clinical hours in the program, and percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 from the survey responses to be entered into SPSS 25. I created a table with demographic data (see Appendix D) for the analysis and generalizability of the data.

## **Design and Analysis**

These data were entered into SPSS 25 and descriptive and inferential statistical analyses were performed. A MANOVA with two groups of ADN and BSN nurses, and four variables of the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, the number of simulation hours, and the number of patient care clinical hours was performed to determine if there are significant differences in these variables between groups.

## Results

## Execution

A total of 1,070 schools were randomly selected from the list of all the state approved schools in the United States. After closed programs, bridge programs, and programs where contact information could not be found were removed from the sample, a total of 975 schools were e-mailed to request participation in the study. From those 975 schools, a total of 184 surveys were returned, yielding a response rate of 18.87%. The COVID-19 pandemic occurred when sampling took place, which may have affected the response rate. The total sample of 184 schools came from 43 states with no more than 11 responses from the same state. Ninety-four responses came from associate degree programs, and the remaining 90 were from bachelor's degree programs. The total number of clinical hours ranged from a minimum of 150 hours to a maximum of 1,296 hours. These data were found to have a broad representation of prelicensure nursing schools in the United States.

Data were entered into SPSS and evaluated for multivariate outliers using Mahalanobis distance. Three multivariate outliers were identified and removed along with nine schools who had less than ten graduates, and there were four responses with incomplete data sets that were not included in the analysis. This left a final sample size of 168 schools for analysis.

## **Tests of Assumptions**

The dependent variables of the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, the number of simulation hours, and the number of patient care clinical hours are all continuous variables and were tested across the two groups of ADN or BSN program which met the first assumption for MANOVA. The population covariance matrices of each group were equal as shown through an insignificant box with a *p* value of 0.175. Furthermore, these data showed an insignificant Levene's test for equality of variance (see Table 3) for all variables except the total number of clinical hours. Upon examining the descriptive statistics between groups, the standard deviation for the total number of clinical hours in BSN programs was not more than four times greater compared to ADN programs (see Table 4). Therefore, these data met the assumptions for a MANOVA (Remler & Van Ryzin, 2015). Table 3

		Levene	
		Statistic	Sig.
Total Number of Clinical	Based on Mean	5.304	0.023
Hours			
Skills Lab Hours	Based on Mean	.288	0.592
Simulation Hours	Based on Mean	.338	0.562
Patient Care Hours	Based on Mean	3.567	0.061

Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances

## **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 4 contains the descriptive statistics of the study variables. A post hoc power analysis was performed in G\*Power using a sensitivity analysis with a sample of 168, two groups, and four response variables resulted in an effect size of 0.073138.

Table 4

D	ascri	ntivo	Stati	stice
$\boldsymbol{\nu}$	escri	puve	Siuii	Sucs

Variable		М	SD
Total Number of Clinical Hours	ADN	648.882	228.5221
	BSN	788.981	165.8763
Skills Lab Hours	ADN	76.8	81.98775
	BSN	78.3987	75.73086
Simulation Hours	ADN	58.5079	61.07879
	BSN	57.4304	58.26727
Patient Care Clinical Hours	ADN	507.5708	197.43090
	BSN	653.5063	153.16094

# **Inferential Results**

MANOVA was used to determine if there were statistical differences in the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, the number of simulation hours, and the number of patient care clinical hours between the ADN and BSN programs. The dependent variables were the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care hours. The independent variables were the program type of ADN or BSN. Preliminary analyses were conducted to assess whether the assumptions of covariance of matrices was met (see *Test of Assumptions*) and these data were found to meet the assumptions for a MANOVA. The MANOVA model was found to be significant with a Pilla's Trace of F = 7.314 and p < 0.001. Therefore, I rejected the null hypothesis that the total number of clinical hours, skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours were equal across ADN and BSN programs. Furthermore, the Partial Eta Squared for this model was 0.152 which is interpreted as 15% of the variability in clinical hours which can be explained through the program type of ADN or BSN.

Table 5 illustrates that both the total number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours were statistically different between ADN and BSN nursing programs. Specifically, that 10.8% of the variability in the total number of clinical hours can be explained through program type, and 14.5% of the variability in patient care clinical hours can be explained through program type.

Table 5

	Dependent Variable	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared	Observed Power
Program Type ADN or BSN	Total Number of Clinical Hours	20.208	.000	.109	.994
-	Skills Lab Hours	.017	.896	.000	.052
	Simulation Hours	.051	.822	.000	.056

#### Tests of Between-Subjects Effects

Patient Care Clinical	28.129	.000	.145	1.000
Hours				

# Discussion

## Interpretation

There was a significant difference between both the total number of clinical hours and the number of patient care clinical hours between ADN and BSN programs. Specifically, 10.8% of the variability in the total number of clinical hours can be explained through program type, and 14.5% of the variability in patient care clinical hours can be explained through program type. BSN programs had significantly more clinical hours (p < 0.01, mean = 788.981) than ADN programs (mean = 648.882), as well as significantly more patient care clinical hours (p = <0.01, means 653.5063 and 507.5708 respectively). These findings support that the difference in clinical hours and patient care clinical hours may be associated with higher levels of care that BSN nurses are able to provide as compared to ADN nurses (see Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Cabaniss, 2014; Diede et al., 2000; Fisher, 2014; Garside & Nhemachena, 2013; Northrup-Snyder et al., 2017; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Furthermore, these findings support Benner's (1984) novice-to-expert theory that experience. as in total number of clinical hours and the number of patient care clinical hours, lead to expertise as shown through the higher levels of care BSN nurses provide.

My results also support findings that clinical hours vary greatly within and across program types (see NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018). This variation in the number of clinical hours and where they are spent could affect the quality of

education that prelicensure nurses receive and their readiness to practice (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018).

## Limitations

I had a low response rate, which may have been a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and limits the generalizability of the findings. Furthermore, this research identifies whether there was a significant difference between the clinical education of BSN and ADN nurses. It did not identify if that difference causes the higher levels of care BSN nurses are able to provide. Furthermore, there may have been some ambiguity in the survey questions on what constitutes clinical hours as some responses included simulation and skills lab hours where others did not. This may have caused the total number of clinical hours to be a misrepresentation of the actual number of clinical hours in a program. Some respondents stated that skills lab hours are separate from clinical hours and did not include them in their responses, which may have affected the results.

# Implications

**Implications to the discipline.** My findings showed there are significant differences in the clinical education between ADN and BSN programs because BSN programs have significantly more total number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours. My findings support that increased clinical education in nursing programs may be one factor that leads to higher levels of nursing care practice (see Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). This may help guide ADN nursing programs to increase the number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours to improve the level of care ADN nurses provide.

**Implications to theory.** My research supports Benner's (1984) novice to expert theory because Benner's theory posits that experience leads to expertise which is supported by my findings that BSN nursing programs have more clinical hours and patient care clinical hours than ADN programs and that BSN prepared nurses are able to provide higher levels of care (Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Cabaniss, 2014; Diede et al., 2000; Fisher, 2014; Garside & Nhemachena, 2013; Northrup-Snyder et al., 2017; Poster et al., 2005; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Furthermore, this supports that time in clinical is equivalent to experience for prelicensure nursing education because prelicensure nurses gain the expertise as shown through the BSN prepared nurses who have more clinical hours being able to provide higher levels of care (Anbari & Vogelsmeier, 2018; Fisher, 2014; Northrup-Snyder et al., 2017; Poster et al., 2005). Therefore, educators need to continue to support clinical hours and patient care clinical hours in nursing education.

**Implications to social change.** Preparing nurses to provide high levels of care and stay at the bedside is important to nursing practice (Bradley et al., 2019; Jeppesen et al., 2017; Spector, et al., 2018). The total number of clinical hours and the number of patient care hours may be one factor that contributes to the ability of BSN prepared nurses to provide higher levels of care because BSN programs have more clinical hours and patient care clinical hours than ADN programs (see Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector et al., 2018). This research supports positive social change in identifying one factor that may contribute to the BSN prepared nurses' ability to provide higher levels of care. This information can help guide nurse educators in further research and in identifying the areas of education that best prepare nurses for providing high quality care.

# Recommendations

Although this research suggests that clinical hours is one factor of BSN prelicensure nursing education that differs ADN prelicensure nursing education, the results did not show that the number of clinical hours are directly correlated with higher levels of care. Further research is needed to determine if the number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours are related to higher levels of nursing care. Further research is also needed to explain and understand if the large variation in the number of clinical hours that prelicensure nurses complete between the ADN and BSN nursing program affects the level of care nurses provide, and to determine the ideal number of clinical hours which are needed to adequately educate new nurses from both ADN and BSN programs for practice.

#### Conclusion

Clinical education and patient care clinical hours are an essential component of prelicensure nursing education. My findings showed a significant difference in the total number of clinical hours and the number of patient care clinical hours between ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs. This may be one factor that contributes to BSN prepared nursed providing higher levels of care. Further research is needed to determine if more clinical hours and patient care clinical hours lead to improved patient care and effect positive social change.

## References

- Aiken, L. H., Cimiotti, J. P., Sloane, D. M., Smith, H. L., Flynn, L., & Neff, D. F. (2011).
  Effects of nurse staffing and nurse education on patient deaths in hospitals with different nurse work environments. *Medical Care*, 49, 1047–1053.
  doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182330b6e
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Cheung, R. B., Salone, D. M., Silber, J. H. (2003).
  Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 290, 1617–1623. doi:10.1001/jama.290.12.1617
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. N., Lake, E. T., & Cheney, T. (2009). Effects of hospital care environment on patient mortality and nurse outcomes. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 39(7/8), S45–S51. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181aeb4cf
- Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., & Sermeus, W. (2013).
  Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 50(2), 143–153. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.11.009
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2019). The baccalaureate degree in nursing as minimal preparation for professional practice. Retrieved from https://www.aacnnursing.org/News-Information/Position-Statements-White-Papers/Bacc-Degree-Prep
- Anbari, A. B., & Vogelsmeier, A. (2018). Associate degree in nursing-to-bachelor of science in nursing graduates' education and their perceived ability to keep

patients safe. Journal of Nursing Education, 57(5), 300-303.

doi:10.3928/01484834-20180420-09

- Bathish, M., Wilson, C., & Potempa, K. (2018). Deliberate practice and nurse competence. *Applied Nursing Research*, 40, 106–109. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2018.01.002
- Battista, A. (2017). An activity theory perspective of how scenario-based simulations support learning: a descriptive analysis. *Advances in Simulation*, 2(23). doi:10.1186/s41077-017-0055-0
- Benner, P. E. (1984). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in clinical nursing practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Benner, P. E., Chesla, C. A., & Tanner, C. A. (2009). Expertise in nursing practice: Caring, clinical judgment & ethics. New York, NY: Springer.
- Benner, P., Sutphen, M., Leonard, V., & Day, L. (2010). Educating nurses: A call for radical transformation. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Blegen, M. A., Goode, C. J., Park, S. H., Vaughn, T., & Spetz, J. (2013). Baccalaureate education in nursing and patient outcomes. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 43(2), 89–94. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31827f2028
- Bobay, K., Gentile, D. L., & Hagle, M. E. (2009). The relationship of nurses' professional characteristics to levels of clinical nursing expertise. *Applied Nursing Research*, 22(1), 48–53. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2007.03.00

Bowling, A. M., Cooper, R., Kellish, A., Kubin, L., & Smith, T. (2018). No evidence to support number of clinical hours necessary for nursing competency. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 39, 27–36. doi:10.1016/2017.12.012

Bradley, C. S., Johnson, B. K., Dreifuerst, K. T., White, P., Conde, S. K., Meakim, C. H., ... Childress, R. M. (2019). Regulation of simulation use in United States prelicensure nursing programs. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 33, 17–25. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2019.04.004

- Cabaniss, R. (2014). Faculty identification of competencies addressing quality and safety education in Alabama associate degree nursing education programs. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *9*(4), 181–192. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2014.05.004
- California Board of Registered Nursing (2016) California board of registered nursing 2014-2015 annual school report. Retrieved from http://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/education/schoolrpt14-15.pdf
- Cho, E., Sloane, D. M., Kim, E. Y., Kim, S., Choi, M., Yoo, I. Y., ... Aiken, L. H. (2015).
  Effects of nurse staffing, work environments, and education on patient mortality:
  An observational study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(2), 535–542.
  doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.08.006
- Diede N, McNish G, & Coose C. (2000). Performance expectations of the associate degree nurse graduate within the first six months. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 39(7), 302–307. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

- Estabrooks, C. A., Midodzi, W. K., Cummings, G. G., Ricker, K. L., & Giovannetti, P. (2005). The impact of hospital nursing characteristics on 30-day mortality. *Nursing Research*, *54*(2), 74–84. doi:10.1097/00006199-200503000-00002
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149–1160. doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Fischer, K. M. (2016). How the educational funding provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act will affect the nursing shortage in the United States. *Northwestern Journal of Law and Social Policy*, 11 (1), 54–77. Retrieved from https://jlsp.law.northwestern.edu/
- Flott, E. A., & Linden, L. (2016). The clinical learning environment in nursing education:
  A concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(3), 501–513.
  doi:10.1111/jan.12861
- Forber, J., DiGiacomo, M., Carter, B., Davidson, P., Phillips, J., & Jackson, D. (2016). In pursuit of an optimal model of undergraduate nurse clinical education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *21*, 83–92. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.09.007

Garside, J. R. & Nhemachena, J. Z. (2013). A concept analysis of competence and its transition in nursing. *Nurse Education Today*, 33(5), 541–545. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.12.007

Giddens J. (2006). Comparing the frequency of physical examination techniques performed by associate and baccalaureate degree prepared nurses in clinical practice: does education make a difference? *Journal of Nursing Education*, 45(3), 136–139. doi:10.3928/01484834-20060301-08

- Gignac-Caille, A. M. & Oermann, M. H. (2001). Student and faculty perceptions of effective clinical instructors in ADN programs. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 40(8), 347–353. doi:10.3928/0148-4834-20011101-05
- Gore, T, & Thomson, W. (2016). Use of Simulation in undergraduate and graduate education. *AACN Advanced Critical Care*, 27(1), 86–95.

doi:10.4037/aacnacc2016329

- Grealish, L., van de Mortel, T., Brown, C., Frommolt, V., Grafton, E., Havell, M., ... Armit, L. (2018). Redesigning clinical education for nursing students and newly qualified nurses: A quality improvement study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *33*, 84–89. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.09.005
- Grealish, L., van de Mortel, T., Brown, C., Frommolt, V., Grafton, E., Havell, M., ... Armit, L. (2018). Redesigning clinical education for nursing students and newly qualified nurses: A quality improvement study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 33, 84–89. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.09.005
- Halstead, J. A. (2019). NLN core Competencies for Nurse Educators: A Decade of Influence. Washington, DC: National League for Nursing.
- Haraldseid, C., Friberg, F., & Aase, K. (2015). Nursing students' perceptions of factors influencing their learning environment in a clinical skills laboratory: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, 35(9), e1–e6. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.015

Hayden, J., Smiley, R., Alexander, M., Kardong-Edgren, S., & Jeffries, P. (2014)

NCSBN national simulation study; A longitudinal, randomized, controlled study replacing clinical hours with simulation in prelicensure nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Regulation. 5*, S1–S64. doi:10.1061/S2155-8256(15)20783-3

- Hickey, M. T. (2010). Baccalaureate nursing graduates' perceptions of their clinical instructional experiences and preparation for practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(1), 35–41. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2009.03.001
- How2stats (2011). MANOVA-SPSS (part 3) [instructional video]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H2XW1XqAdQs

Institute of Medicine. (2011). *The future of nursing: leading change, advancing health*. Washington D.C.: National Academies Press.

- Jan, L. K., & Popescu, L. (2014). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in both social work and nursing practice. Social Work Review / Revista de Asistenta Sociala, 13(1), 91–99. Retrieved from http://www.revistadeasistentasociala.ro/
- Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., & Friebe, T.-R. (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 29, 116– 126. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006
- Jeppesen, K. H., Christiansen, S., & Frederiksen, K. (2017). Education of student nurses A systematic literature review. *Nurse Education Today*.
  doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.05.005

Loversidge, J., Yen, P.-Y., Chipps, E., Gallagher-Ford, L., Genter, L., & Buck, J. (2018).
 Top-of-license nursing practice, Part 2: Differentiating BSN and ADN
 perceptions of top-of-license activities. *The Journal Of Nursing Administration*,
 48(6), 329–334. doi:10.1097/NNA.0000000000000623

Melnyk, B. M., Gallagher, F. L., Zellefrow, C., Tucker, S., Thomas, B., Sinnott, L. T., & Tan, A. (2018). The first US study on nurses' evidence-based practice competencies indicates major deficits that threaten healthcare quality, safety, and patient outcomes. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 15(1), 16–25. doi:10.1111/wvn.12269

- Meyer, M. N., Connors, H., Hou, Q., & Gajewski, B. (2011). The effect of simulation on clinical performance: A junior nursing student clinical comparison study.
   *Simulation in Healthcare*, 6(5), 269–277. doi:10.1097/SIH.0b013e318223a048
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2005). Clinical instruction in prelicensure nursing programs. Retrieved from

https://www.ncsbn.org/Final\_Clinical\_Instr\_Pre\_Nsg\_programs.pdf

- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2019) Licensure. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/licensure.htm
- Northrup-Snyder, K., Menkens, R. M., & Dean, M. (2017). Student competency perceptions from associate degree to bachelor degree completion. *The Journal of Nursing Education*, *56*(10), 581–590. doi:10.3928/01484834-20170918-02

- Oermann M. H. (1998). Differences in clinical experiences of ADN and BSN students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *37*(5), 197–201. doi:10.3928/0148-4834-19980501-04
- Oermann M. H., & Standfest K. M. (1997). Differences in stress and challenge in clinical practice among ADN and BSN students in varying clinical courses. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 36(5), 228–232. doi:10.3928/0148-4834-19970501-08
- Poster E, Adams P, Clay C, Garcia BR, Hallman A, Jackson B, ... Yuill N. (2005). The Texas model of differentiated entry-level competencies of graduates of nursing programs. *Nursing Education Perspectives (National League for Nursing)*, 26(1), 18–23. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Primm, P. L. (1987). Differentiated practice for ADN- and BSN-prepared nurses. *Journal* of *Professional Nursing*, *3*(4), 218–225. doi:10.1016/S8755-7223(87)80008-X
- Schlairet, M. C., & Fenster, M. J. (2012). Dose and sequence of simulation and direct care experiences among beginning nursing students: A pilot study. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 51(12), 668–675. doi:10.3928/01484834-20121005-03
- Smiley, R. A. (2019). Survey of simulation use in prelicensure nursing programs:
  Changes and advancements, 2010–2017. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 9(4), 48–61. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(19)30016-X.
- Spector, N., Hooper, J., Silvestre, J., & Qian, H. (2018). Board of nursing approval of registered nurse education programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 8(4), 22–23. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(17)30178-3

Sportsman, S., Schumacker, R. E., & Hamilton, P. (2011). Evaluating the impact of scenario-based high fidelity patient simulation on academic metrics of student success. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 32(4), 259–265. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-32.4.259

Torabi, M., & Zadeh, N. M. (2018). The effect of clinical instruction based on mentorship patterns on clinical competencies of the nursing students. Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science. 6(2), 305–310. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/

- Tourangeau, A. E., Doran, D. M., McGillis Hall, L., O'Brien Pallas, L., Pringle, D., Tu, J.
  V., & Cranley, L. A. (2007). Impact of hospital nursing care on 30-day mortality for acute medical patients. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *57*(1), 32–44.
  doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04084.x
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Watson, K., Wright, A., Morris, N., McMeeken, J., Rivett, D., Blackstock, F., . . . Jull, G. (2012). Can simulation replace part of clinical time? Two parallel randomized controlled trials. *Medical Education*, *46*(7), 657–667.doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04295.x

# **Relationship Among Types of Clinical Hours and NCLEX Pass Rates**

Kara Potter

MSN, San Jose State University, 2004

BSN, Norwich University 2000

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2020

#### **Outlet for Manuscript**

*Nursing Education Perspectives* is a scholarly, peer-reviewed journal with a target audience of nurse educators and includes information regarding teaching and learning, curricula, technology, the recruitment and retention of students, and other issues important to nursing education. Areas of interest for this publication are research focused on technology in nursing education, including simulation and informatics; teaching and learning; curriculum development; the recruitment and retention of students; faculty issues; assessment and evaluation and high-stakes testing; diversity and global initiatives; service-learning; and nursing education focused on the care of vulnerable populations. Accepted types of manuscripts are feature articles, research briefs, and innovation center articles, and letters to the editor. The submission requirements for this journal include:

- Abstract, no longer than 150 words (Aim, Background, Method, Results, Conclusion)
- This journal requires references using the latest edition of the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association.
- Featured articles have a maximum length 20 pages double spaced with 1-inch margins, including references.

Information about the journal can be accessed at the following:

https://journals.lww.com/neponline/Pages/informationforauthors.aspx

Information about submission requirements can be accessed at the following: http://edmgr.ovid.com/nep/accounts/ifauth.htm

## Abstract

Aim: To determine whether there is a relationship between simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in ADN and BSN prelicensure nursing programs and the percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019.
Background: Clinical education is an essential part of prelicensure nursing education. There is little published research on the relationship between clinical education in prelicensure programs and competency.

**Methods:** Multiple linear regression was used to determine the relationship between type of clinical hours of patient care clinical hours, skills lab hours, and simulation hours, and NCLEX pass rates.

**Results:** The model was not able to significantly predict NCLEX pass rates (p > 0.005). Furthermore, none of the independent variables of the skills lab hours, simulation hours, or patient care hours were significant predictors of NCLEX pass rates.

**Conclusions:** None of the variables included in this research were predictive of NCLEX pass rates.

#### Introduction

Clinical education is an essential portion of prelicensure nursing education and is crucial for preparing new nurses to practice in the field (Benner, Sutphen, Leonard, & Day, 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector, Hooper, Silvestre, & Qian, 2018). However, new graduate nurses are reporting feeling unprepared for practice and are leaving bedside nursing practice at high rates (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Hickey, 2010; Monaghan, 2015; Nursing Solutions Inc., 2019; Odland, Sneltvedt, & Sörlie, 2014). Because clinical education is where nursing students gain experience to prepare them for practice (Benner, Chesla, & Tanner 2009; Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Frederiksen, 2017), this area warrants further investigation. Specifically, the areas of clinical education where time is spent and its relationship to minimum competencies for entry into practice, because prelicensure clinical education is traditionally split into three different learning areas: skills lab, simulation, and patient care (National Council of States Boards of Nursing [NCSBN], 2005).

## Significance/Importance

Experience has been found to lead to better nursing practice (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, Salone, & Silber, 2003; Belgen, Vaugn, & Goode, 2013; Benner, 1984; Clarke, Rockett, Salone, & Aiken, 2002; Ju-Hui & Sook-Hee, 2018). In prelicensure clinical education, experience is gained in the form of clinical hours (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019). However, there is a lack of evidence to support the number of clinical hours needed to obtain competency in prelicensure clinical education (Bowling, Cooper, Kellish, Kubin, & Smith, 2018). Furthermore, there is variation in clinical education between schools, and states as well as in the regulation of clinical education by states (NCSBN, 2005, 2018; Smiley, 2019). Therefore, further research is needed on the relationship between clinical hours and minimum level of competency as measured by the National Council Licensure Examination (NCLEX).

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework guiding this research was Benner's (1984) novice-toexpert theory. Benner theorized that nurses move through five stages of competency in practice with experience: novice, advanced beginner, competent, proficient, and expert, with newly graduated nurses at the advanced beginner phase (Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Grochow, 2008; Jan & Popescu, 2014; Murray, Sundin, & Cope, 2019; Solem & Stewart, n.d.). Although experience is essential to moving through Benner's stages, experience alone may not be enough (Aiken, Cimiotti, et al., 2011; Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, Lake, & Cheney, 2009; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). The type of experience is essential for developing competency, and in prelicensure clinical education experience is generally divided into three areas of skills lab, simulation, and patient care clinical hours (Aiken, Cimiottie, et al., 2011; Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, et al., 2009; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). Therefore, the total number of clinical hours and the types of clinical hours of skill lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care hours warrants further investigation to determine if one may more adequately prepare nurses than others. Further, because experience leads to competence and experience in prelicensure nursing education is gained through clinical hours, further investigation on clinical education in prelicensure nursing education is warranted (Aiken, Cimiottie, et al., 2011; Aiken, Clarke, Sloane, et

al., 2009; Benner, 1984; Benner, Chesla, et al., 2009; Jayasekara et al., 2018; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). No previous research has examined the types of clinical hours in nursing programs and their relationship to competency. The purpose of this manuscript was to determine the relationship among simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in associate's degree in nursing (ADN) and bachelor's degree in nursing (BSN) prelicensure nursing programs on NCLEX pass rates.

## **Relevant Scholarship**

Currently in the United States clinical hours in prelicensure nursing education vary greatly (NCSBN, 2018, 2005; Smiley, 2019). Further obscuring clinical education in prelicensure nursing education is the fact that some states regulate the minimum number of clinical hours required in nursing programs, whereas others do not (NCSBN, 2018, Spector et al., 2018). Even among the states that regulate clinical hours, the minimum number of clinical hours required vary from 400 to over 1,000 (NCSBN, 2018). This great variation in the number of clinical hours in programs could significantly affect the competency of newly graduated nurses.

A seminal study from the NCSBN (2005) found that state boards of nursing agreed that students met the minimum clinical competencies to be a nurse if they passed a board accredited nursing program. They also discovered that most state boards of nursing agreed that the minimum number of clinical hours should be mandated by the states board of nursing (NCSBN, 2005). However, research suggests that clinical requirements vary greatly between nursing programs and degree types, which could greatly affect the competency of these newly graduated nurses (Lewallen, 2019; NCSBN, 2005; Poster et al., 2005; Rice, 2015; Wu, Enskär, Lee, & Wang, 2015).

Even further complicating prelicensure clinical education is that not only do the number of clinical hours vary greatly between programs, but clinical hours can also be completed in a variety of settings (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Jeppesen, Christiansen, & Frederiksen, 2017; NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019). There are three main clinical environments in prelicensure clinical education, these include the skills lab, simulation, and patient care (NCSBN, 2005). Each of these environments offer different types of learning experiences and have different educational goals (Bradley et al., 2019; Forber et al., 2016; Gore & Thomson, 2016; Haraldseid, Friberg, & Aase, 2015; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005).

Skills lab hours are a traditional component of nursing education (Haraldseid et al., 2015; Jeppesen et al., 2017). Skills lab hours are used to teach nursing students new psychomotor skills in a controlled lab environment and include time to practice theses skills in isolation, without having to work them into the overall care of the patient (Haraldseid, Friberg, & Aase, 2015; Jeppesen et al., 2017). Simulation is a newer environment that has been integrated into prelicensure clinical education (Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016). In simulation students can integrate knowledge and skills to care for a simulated patient in a controlled environment where mistakes can be made without hurting patients (Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016). Finally, patient care hours are the traditional foundation of prelicensure clinical education (Jeppesen et al., 2017). During patient care clinical hours student nurses care for patients under the

supervision of a nursing instructor and/or a registered nurse (Forber et al., 2016; Jeppesen et al., 2017; NCSBN, 2005).

In skills lab hours students do not interact with patients (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016). In skills lab students learn how to perform skills with didactics, as well as practice skills in the controlled learning environment (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, Chattu, Rewatker, Sakhamuri, 2019). Another important aspect of skills lab is that in skills lab students practice skills with direct observation from instructors who can provide feedback and correct the student's practice (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, et al., 2019). This allows students to become proficient in skills prior to implementing these skills in practice on living patients to decrease the risk of harm to patients (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, et al., 2019). Despite the benefits of skills lab the limitation is that in the skills lab students do not experience all of the complexities of patient care which has caused some boards of nursing to regulate the number of clinical hours spent in lab (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2019; NCSBN, 2005; Nevada State Board of Nursing, n.d.; Sahu, et al., 2019). There is no recent published literature exploring skills labs hours and competency or NCLEX pass rates. Therefore, further research is needed on the relationship of skills lab hours and NCLEX pass rates.

Simulation is another area that prelicensure nursing students spend their clinical time (Hayden, Smiley, Alexander, Kardong-Edgren, & Jeffries, 2014; Palaganas, 2015). Like skills lab students do not care for actual patients in simulation, but rather practice in a controlled environment (Hayden et al., 2014). However, in simulation the complex patient and hospital environment is simulated allowing students to practice skills, critical

thinking and clinical decision making in an environment similar to the hospital setting (Fey & Kardong-Edgren, 2017; Hayden et al., 2014; Johnson et al., 2012; Lavoie, Pepin & Cossette, 2014; Lindsey & Jenkins, 2013; Lock, 2019). The focus in simulation is not learning a new skill but rather to practice applying it in the simulated setting where students can make mistakes without causing harm (Hayden et al., 2014; Palaganas, 2015).

Simulation use is prominent in the literature and many nursing programs are using simulation to replace patient care and lab clinical hours with simulation (Alexander et al., 2015; Beroz, 2017; Bradley et al., 2019; Gore & Thomson, 2016). Authors have found that up to 50% of traditional clinical hours can be replaced with simulation without affecting traditional measures of success such as grade point average, meeting program objectives, perceived readiness to practice, and passing national licensing exams (Hayden et al., 2014; Meyer, Connors, Hou, & Gajewski, 2011; Schlairet & Fenster, 2012; Sportsman, Schumacker, & Hamilton, 2011; Watson et al., 2012).

Even though researchers have established that simulation can effectively replace up to 50% of clinical hours, there is still a wide variation across programs in the percentage of clinical replaced by simulation (Bradley et al., 2019; Breymier et al., 2015; Smiley, 2019). A survey of 50 state boards of nursing conducted in 2019 found that 30 boards regulated simulation in nursing programs, and 13 of those allowed up to 50% of clinical to be replaced with simulation, seven allowed 25%, four did not specify the amount, and six had percentages that varied (Bradley et al., 2019). Another factor that further complicates simulation use in nursing programs is that the ratio of the number of clinical hours to simulation hours can vary between states (Bradley et al., 2019; Breymier et al, 2015; Smiley, 2019). Furthermore, Breymier et al. (2019) found that the ratios for simulation to replace clinical were inconsistently reported. Whereas Bradley (2019) found that three boards of nursing allowed clinical to be replaced by simulation at a 1:1 ratio, one allowed 1:1 or 2:1, and 25 did not define the ratio. Due to this wide variation in simulation use and implementation further investigation on the use of simulation as part of clinical education is needed.

The use of simulation in nursing education is prominent in the literature. Currently there are several organizations offering certifications for educators who wish to champion healthcare simulation at institutions (National League for Nursing, n.d.; Society for Simulation in Health Care, n.d.). There has also been significant research on simulation environments, strategies to facilitate simulation, and how to facilitate learning from the simulations learners participate in (Battista, 2017; Brown, Wong, & Ahmed, 2018; Cheng, Eppich, Grant, Sherbino, Zendejas, & Cook, 2014; Kelly, Berragan, Husebø, & Orr, 2016; Sittner et al., 2015; Wiggins, 2018). As well as best practices in simulation have also been outlined by organizations such as the National League for Nursing and Society for Simulation in Health Care to guide the use of simulation in healthcare and in nursing education. These organizations also support the education of faculty in simulation and the use of simulation in education to further support best practices in simulation in education (National League for Nursing, n.d.; Society for Simulation in Health Care, n.d.). This abundance of literature and education to support best practices in clinical education may lead to simulation being a strong method of clinical education for nursing students increasing NCLEX pass rates.

Finally, researchers and regulating bodies agree that patient care clinical hours are essential in the education of new nurses (Bradley et al., 2019; California Board of Registered Nursing, 2016; Forber et al., 2015; Jayasekara et al., 2018; NCSBN, 2005; Spector et al, 2018). Although recent authors have investigated different types of patient care clinical models for their effectiveness, there continues to be a dearth of information supporting the number of clinical hours needed to obtain minimum competency for entry into practice (Bowling et al., 2019; Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018). Further complicating patient care clinical education is the fact that researchers agree that high quality clinical education is essential in building competency, however authors disagree on what exactly constitutes high quality clinical education (Caputi, 2018; Flott & Linden, 2016; Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018; Rice, 2015). Therefore, an initial step in understanding prelicensure clinical education and its relationship to competency is comparing the number of each type of clinical hours in a nursing program with the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX.

#### **Research Question and Design**

Research question: What is the relationship between simulation clinical hours, patient care clinical hours, and skills lab hours in prelicensure nursing programs (ADN and BSN) and the percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019? Descriptive and quantitative methods were used to examine clinical hours and types of clinical hours in nursing programs. The independent variables for this research were the total number of clinical hours, the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours. The dependent variable was the percentage of students who passed the NCLEX on the first try from each school in 2019.

# Methods

# **Participants**

The population was ADN and BSN nursing schools in the United States whose graduates take the NCLEX for licensure. Programs with less than 10 graduates were excluded from the analysis due to the small sample being an inadequate representation of the clinical hours in a program's correlation with a student's ability to pass the NCLEX. Step programs for licensed practical nurses to become registered nurses were also excluded from the study because these graduates would have completed a significant portion of their clinical education in the practical nursing program.

#### **Sample and Power**

A list of all the prelicensure nursing schools was compiled from each state board of nursing website in the United States. This list was then entered into an Excel spreadsheet, and the random number generator was used to assign each school a random number. I then contacted each school in ascending order until the required sample size was met. I used G\*Power to calculate a sample size using a multiple linear regression model with three predictors, a medium effect size of 0.15, an alpha of 0.05, and a power of 0.8, a sample of 77 was needed for the same predictors with a power of 0.95 a sample of 119 was required (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009).

# Variables/Sources of Data

I used multiple linear regression for this research to determine the extent to which a nursing program's type and number of clinical hours explain the variance in the percentage of NCLEX pass rates. Multiple linear regression requires at least two independent variable and the dependent variable are continuous numeric variables (Warner, 2013). The independent variables for this research were school type of ADN or BSN and number of clinical hours. The dependent variable was the percentage of students who graduated in 2019 who passed the NCLEX on the first attempt. These data were evaluated to meet the requirements for the multiple regression analysis including multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals. Multicollinearity was evaluated by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. Outliers were identified using Mahalanobis distance, and meeting the assumptions of normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals was evaluated through the evaluation of the plots of normal residual.

#### **Instrumentation or Measures**

I called the first 250 schools and used a template asking nursing offices for the contact information for the faculty that would now the programs clinical hours and for the percentage of students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 (see Appendix C). When I was directed to contact other people in the program, the second script was used to ask if I could send them a survey (see Appendix C). I sent an e-mail with a link to the survey to people who agreed to fill out the survey. If the person did not agree, no further contacts were made. Once a person agreed to fill out the survey, a link to an online survey through

Questionpro was emailed to them. This research was approved by the Walden University Institutional Review Board with an approval number of 03-11-20-0976767.

During data collection the COVID-19 pandemic occurred and after the initial 250 participants were contacted data collection methods needed to be changed due to campuses being closed. For the remainder of the survey's participants were contacted via email, in groups of 50, from publicly available contact information. I generally contacted the program coordinators or clinical coordinators from the publicly available contact information as they were usually the person I was directed to when I called the schools. After the initial email requesting participation, participants were sent reminder emails 2 weeks apart until the survey was completed, no more than two reminder emails were sent to any individual.

Finally, I downloaded an excel spreadsheet from Questionpro that included the state the school is located in, the school name, the degree type it offers ADN or BSN, the total number of clinical hours in the program, the number of skills lab hours in the program, simulation hours in the program, and patient care clinical hours in the program, and percentage of graduating students who passed the NCLEX in 2019 from the survey responses to be entered into SPSS 25. I created a table with demographic data (see Appendix B) for the analysis and generalizability of the data.

## **Design and Analysis**

I put the data into SPSS version 25 and used multiple linear regression to determine prelicensure nursing schools' clinical hours' correlation with NCLEX pass

rates, as well as the type of school ADN or BSN and the correlation with NCLEX pass rates.

# Results

# Execution

A total of 800 schools were randomly selected from the list of all the state approved schools in the United States. After closed programs, bridge programs, and programs where contact information could not be found were removed from the sample, a total of 722 schools were e-mailed to request participation in the study. From those 722 schools a total of 119 surveys were returned (16.48%). The COVID-19 pandemic occurred when sampling took place, which may account for the low response rate. The total sample of 119 schools came from 40 states with no more than nine responses from the same state. Sixty-nine responses came from associate degree programs, and 50 were from bachelor's degree programs. The total number of clinical hours ranged from a minimum of 226 to a maximum of 1,240. These data were found to have a broad representation of prelicensure nursing schools in the United States.

I entered these data into SPSS and evaluated for multivariate outliers using Mahalanobis distance and incomplete responses. Two multivariate outliers were identified and removed along with eight schools who had less than ten graduates, and two responses with incomplete data sets. This left a final sample size of 105 schools, which were incorporated in the linear regression model and were further tested for meeting the assumptions of linear regression. I conducted a post-hoc power analysis using G\*power
with an effect size of 0.15 and an alpha of 0.05, and three predictor variables, and this resulted in a power of 0.948 with a sample of 105.

# **Tests of Assumptions**

The assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity,

homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were evaluated.

**Multicollinearity**. Multicollinearity was evaluated by viewing the correlation coefficients among the predictor variables. All bivariate correlations were small to medium (see Table 6); therefore, the assumptions of multicollinearity were met. Table 6 contains the correlation coefficients.

# Table 6

Variable	% of Students	s Skills Lab	Simulation	Patient Care
	passing the	Hours	Hours	Hours
	NCLEX			
% of students passing	1.00	0.68	0.171	0.120
the NCLEX				
Skills Lab Hours	0.68	1.00	0.186	0.150
Simulation Hours	0.171	0.186	1.00	-0.010
Patient Care Hours	0.120	0.150	-0.010	1.00
105				

Correlation Coefficients Among Study Predictor Variables

*Note. n* = 105.

#### Normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals.

Normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were evaluated by examining the normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual (see Figure 3) and the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 4). The examinations indicated there were slight violations of these assumptions. The deviation of the points from the straight line (see Figure 3), diagonal from the bottom left to the top right,

indicates that the assumption of normality has been slightly violated, however slight violations are acceptable in samples larger than 15 (Remler & Van Ryzin, 2015). The lack of a clear or systematic pattern in the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (Figure 4) indicated that this assumption was met.



*Figure 3.* Normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residuals where % pass take is the % of Students passing the NCLEX



Figure 4 Scatterplot of the standardized residuals.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

In total 119 surveys were returned, and these data were entered into SPSS and evaluated for multivariate outliers using Mahalanobis distance and incomplete responses. Two multivariate outliers were identified and removed along with eight schools who had less than ten graduates, and two responses with incomplete data sets which left a final sample size of 105 schools (n=105). Table 4 contains the descriptive statistics of the study variables.

Table 7

Variable М SD % of students passing the 91.604091 7.497074 NCLEX **Skills Lab Hours** 72.433 75.6180 **Simulation Hours** 58.8476 58.90912 Patient Care Hours 565.4333 192.47981

Means and Standard Deviations for Quantitative Study Variables

*Note. n* = 105.

# **Inferential Results**

I calculated the results using standard multiple linear regression,  $\alpha = .05$  (twotailed), to examine the influence of the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care hours in a program on the percentage of students from each school that passed the NCLEX. The independent variables were the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours and patient care hours in a program. The dependent variable was the percentage of students passing the NCLEX. The null hypothesis was that the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours would not significantly predict NCLEX pass rates. The alternative hypothesis was that the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours would significantly predict NCLEX pass rates. Preliminary analyses were conducted to assess whether the assumptions of multicollinearity, outliers, normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and independence of residuals were met; minor violations were noted (see Tests of Assumptions). The model as a whole was not able to significantly predict NCLEX pass rates, F = 1.558, p > 0.05,  $R^2 = 0.044$ . The coefficients (Table 7) show that skills lab hours, patient care hours, and patient care clinical hours were not significant predictors of passing the NCLEX. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained because there was no relationship between the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours and patient care hours in ADN and BSN programs and NCLEX pass rates.

Table 8

Coefficients				
Model	В	Sig (2-Tailed)		
Skills Lab Hours	0.002	0.855		
Simulation Hours	0.021	0.092		
Patient Care Hours	0.005	0.232		

#### Discussion

The data showed that the number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and the number of patient care hours in clinical are not predictive of the percentage of students who pass the NCLEX for entry into practice. This may be explained through skills lab hours being designed to teach the nursing student skills proficiency, which frequently does not include complex patient care situations to prepare students for the NCLEX. Furthermore, skills lab hours are generally focused on learning or practicing new psychomotor skills in a controlled lab environment (; Haraldseid, Friberg, & Aase, 2015; Jeppesen et al., 2017). Because the majority of skills lab clinical time is spent learning new psychomotor skills and practicing them safely before transitioning the practice environment, skills lab hours may not provide students with adequate practice of complex care situations to prepare them for the NCLEX (Bugaj & Nikendel, 2016; Sahu, Chattu, Rewatker, Sakhamuri, 2019; Struksnes & Engelien).

Patient care clinical hours may not have shown correlation to NCLEX pass rates due to all nursing programs containing a significant number of clinical hours that may overall prepare students for the NCLEX. Patient care clinical hours are an essential component of nursing education, and simulation hours have been found to be equivalent to clinical hours (Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Hamilton, 2011; Hayden et al., 2014; Jayasekara et al., 2018; Meyer et al., 2011; Schlairet & Fenster, 2012; Sportsman et al., 2012). Simulation hours have been shown to produce the same results as patient care clinical hours; therefore, the lack of correlation between patient care clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates may explain the lack of correlation between simulation hours and NCLEX pass rates (see Hayden et al., 2014; Meyer, Connors, Hou, & Gajewski, 2011; Schlairet & Fenster, 2012; Sportsman, Schumacker, & Hamilton, 2011; Watson et al., 2012).

My results indicated that nursing programs do have sufficient patient care hours and simulation hours for NCLEX preparation because the NCLEX is the minimum qualification for entry into practice (see NCSBN, 2020). But some states limit the number of clinical hours that students can spend in the lab setting (California Board of Registered Nursing, 2019; NCSBN, n.d., 2005.). However, previous research identified that there is no association between nurses' years of experience and the safety of patient care provided (Kutney-Lee, Sloane, & Aiken, 2013; Lee, et al., 2018) because advanced beginner nurses are able to provide safe care (Potter, 2018; Tanicala, Scheffer, & Roberts, 2011). Similarly, passing the NCLEX is the minimum standard for entry into practice, so programs with minimal patient care clinical hours and simulation hours may be adequately preparing nurses for the NCLEX but may not be adequately preparing nurses for clinical practice (Hickerson, Taylor, & Terhaar, 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; NCSBN, 2020; Odland et al., 2014; Saifan, AbuRuz, & Masa'deh, 2015; Spector et al., 2015). Therefore, NCLEX pass rates may not be the best indicator for the way patient care clinical hours prepare students for practice.

Another possible explanation for the lack of correlation between the number of patient care clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates could be that the types of clinical education. Types of clinical experiences may be more important than only the number of hours spent in the clinical setting. Large variations in clinical education practices exist such as number of hours, number of days, and length of clinical days across clinical education programs (NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018). There are also variations in types of education techniques used and types of clinical experiences (Flott & Linden, 2015; Grealish et al., 2018; Jeppesen et al., 2017; Torabi & Zadeh, 2018). These may have greater influence on nurses obtaining competency than only the number of hours students spend in the clinical setting.

## Limitations

One limitation was that this study examined only the relationship between factors of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care hours and NCLEX pass rates. There are many other variables that may affect NCLEX pass rates that are not included in this study. Furthermore, there may have been some ambiguity in the survey questions on what constitutes clinical hours as some responses included simulation and skills lab hours where others did not. This may have caused the total number of clinical hours to be a misrepresentation of the actual number of clinical hours in a program. Some respondents stated that skills lab hours are separate from clinical hours and did not include them in their responses which may have affected the results. Schools of nursing that had high NCLEX pass rates may have been more likely to report their pass rates than schools with low pass rates which may have skewed the results. Finally, the response rate could have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which limited generalizability.

## Implications

Implications to the discipline/practice. The lack of correlation between skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates indicated that nursing programs have sufficient clinical hours in these areas to prepare nurses for the NCLEX. This further supports that the NCLEX is the minimum for entry into nursing practice since all programs had an adequate number of clinical hours to pass the NCEX (see NCSBN, 2020). Furthermore, this information suggests that the areas of nursing knowledge and education measured by the NCLEX is not enhanced by clinical education.

**Theoretical implications.** These findings supported Benner's (1984) novice to expert theory that quality experiences leads to improved practice. The lack of correlation between patient care clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates supported the novice to expert theory that experience alone is not enough to gain expertise, but rather good experiences lead to expertise (Benner, Sutphen, et al., 2010; Bradley et al., 2019; Spector, et al., 2018). Further research is needed in patient care clinical education as there was no agreement found on best practices in patient care clinical education and if the differences in teaching strategies causes variation in the quality of the experience students have in the patient care setting (NCSBN, 2005; Smiley, 2019; Spector et al., 2018).

Impact for social change. The lack of correlation between skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates indicated that no one area of clinical education is superior in preparing nurses for the NCLEX. This information supports that schools currently contain adequate clinical hours to prepare nurse for the NCLEX which affect positive social change. However, since nurses who pass the NCEX continue to be unprepared for practice nurse educators need to explore other measurements for preparedness to practice (see Hickerson et al., 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; NCSBN, 2020; Odland et al., 2014; Saifan, AbuRuz, & Masa'deh, 2015; Spector et al., 2015).

## Recommendation

Further research is needed in the area of clinical education. My results did not show any significant correlation between patient care clinical hours, simulation hours or skills lab hours and NCLEX pass rates in my sample. Since clinical education is accepted as a cornerstone of nursing more research is needed to identify which areas of readiness for practice clinical education correlates with education (see Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018). More research in patient care clinical hours is needed to establish best practices in the education of nurses in patient care settings and to determine if areas of clinical education and patient care clinical hours are better predictors of readiness to practice than the NCLEX.

### Conclusion

The number of skills lab hours, simulation hours, and patient care clinical hours in a program were not significant predictors of the programs NCLEX pass rates despite researchers agreeing that clinical education is the cornerstone of nursing education (see Forber et al., 2016; Grealish et al., 2018; Jayasekara et al., 2018). Therefore, more research is needed in the area of clinical education including specific clinical education practices to establish best practices in clinical education, and to identify which areas of readiness for practice with which clinical education correlates fand to establish best practices in the clinical education of nursing students to better prepare them for practice.

.

### References

- Ackerson, K., & Stiles, K. A. (2018). Value of nurse residency programs in retaining new graduate nurses and their potential effect on the nursing shortage. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(6), 282–288. doi:10.3928/00220124-20180517-09
- Aiken, L. H., Cimiotti, J. P., Sloane, D. M., Smith, H. L., Flynn, L., & Neff, D. F. (2011).
  Effects of nurse staffing and nurse education on patient deaths in hospitals with different nurse work environments. *Medical Care*, 49, 1047–1053.
  doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182330b6e
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Cheung, R. B., Salone, D. M., & Silber, J. H. (2003).
  Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 290, 1617–623. doi:10.1001/jama.290.12.1617
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. N., Lake, E. T., & Cheney, T. (2009). Effects of hospital care environment on patient mortality and nurse outcomes. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 39(7/8), S45–S51. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181aeb4cf
- Alexander, M., Durhan, C., Hooper, J., Jeffries, P., Goldman, N., KardongEdgren, S., & Tillman, C. (2015). NCSBN simulation guidelines for prelicensure nursing programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, *6*, 39–42. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(15)30783-3.
- Battista, A. (2017). An activity theory perspective of how scenario-based simulations support learning: a descriptive analysis. *Advances in Simulation*, 2(23). doi:10.1:186/s41077-017-0055-0

- Benner, P. E. (1984). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in clinical nursing practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Benner, P. E., Chesla, C. A., & Tanner, C. A. (2009). *Expertise in nursing practice: Caring, clinical judgment & ethics.* New York, NY: Springer Publishing.
- Benner, P., Sutphen, M., Leonard, V., & Day, L. (2010). Educating nurses: A call for radical transformation. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Beroz, S. (2017). A Statewide Survey of Simulation Practices Using NCSBN Simulation
  Guidelines. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *13*(6), 270–277.
  doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2017.03.005
- Blegen, M. A., Goode, C. J., Park, S. H., Vaughn, T., & Spetz, J. (2013). Baccalaureate education in nursing and patient outcomes. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 43(2), 89–94. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31827f2028
- Bowling, A. M., Cooper, R., Kellish, A., Kubin, L., & Smith, T. (2018). No evidence to support number of clinical hours necessary for nursing competency. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 39, 27–36. doi:10.1016/2017.12.012
- Bradley, C. S., Johnson, B. K., Dreifuerst, K. T., White, P., Conde, S. K., Meakim, C. H.,
  ... Childress, R. M. (2019). Regulation of Simulation Use in United States
  Prelicensure Nursing Programs. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *33*, 17–25.
  doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2019.04.004
- Breymier, T. L., Rutherford-Hemming, T., Horsley, T. L., Atz, T., Smith, L. G.,Badowski, D., & Connor, K. (2015). Substitution of clinical experience with simulation in prelicensure nursing programs: A national survey in the United

States. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 11(11), 472–478.

doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2015.09.004

- Brown, D. K., Wong, A. H., & Ahmed, R. A. (2018). Evaluation of simulation debriefing methods with interprofessional learning. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 32(6), 779–781. doi:10.1080/13561820.2018.1500451
- Bugaj, T. J., & Nikendei, C. (2016). Practical clinical training in skills labs: Theory and practice. GMS Journal for Medical Education, (4), 63. doi:10.3205/zma001062
- California Board of Registered Nursing (2016) California board of registered nursing 2014-2015 annual school report. Retrieved from http://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/education/schoolrpt14-15.pdf
- California State Board of Nursing. (2019). Education. Retrieved from https://www.rn.ca.gov/education/index.shtml
- Caputi, L. (2018) Think like a nurse. Rolling Meadows, IL: Windy City Publishers.
- Cheng, A., Eppich, W., Grant, V., Sherbino, J., Zendejas, B., & Cook, D. A. (2014).
  Debriefing for technology-enhanced simulation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Medical Education*, 48(7), 657–666. doi:0.1111/medu.12432
- Clarke, S. P., Rockett, J. L., Sloane, D. M., & Aiken, L. H. (2002). Organizational climate, staffing, and safety equipment as predictors of needlestick injuries and near-misses in hospital nurses. *AJIC: American Journal of Infection Control*, 30(4), 207–216. doi:10.1067/mic.2002.123392
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior*

Research Methods, 41, 1149–1160. doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

- Fey, M. K., & Kardong-Edgren, S. (2017). State of research on simulation in nursing education programs. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 33(6), 397–398. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2017.10.009
- Flott, E. A., & Linden, L. (2016). The clinical learning environment in nursing education: a concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(3), 501–513. doi:10.1111/jan.12861
- Forber, J., DiGiacomo, M., Carter, B., Davidson, P., Phillips, J., & Jackson, D. (2016). In pursuit of an optimal model of undergraduate nurse clinical education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 21, 83–92. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.09.007
- Gore, T., & Thomson, W. (2016). Use of simulation in undergraduate and graduate education. AACN Advanced Critical Care, 27(1), 86–95.
  doi:10.4037/aacnacc2016329
- Grealish, L., van de Mortel, T., Brown, C., Frommolt, V., Grafton, E., Havell, M., ...
  Armit, L. (2018). Redesigning clinical education for nursing students and newly qualified nurses: A quality improvement study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *33*, 84–89. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.09.005
- Grochow, D. (2008). From novice to expert: transitioning graduate nurses. *Nursing Management*, *39*(3), 10–12. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000313089.04519.f4
- Haraldseid, C., Friberg, F., & Aase, K. (2015). Nursing students' perceptions of factors influencing their learning environment in a clinical skills laboratory: A qualitative

study. Nurse Education Today, 35(9), e1-e6. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.015

- Hayden, J., Smiley, R., Alexander, M., Kardong-Edgren, S., & Jeffries, P. (2014)
  NCSBN national simulation study; A longitudinal, randomized, controlled study
  replacing clinical hours with simulation in prelicensure nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Regulation. 5*, S1–S64. doi:10.1061/S2155-8256(15)20783-3
- Hickey, M. T. (2010). Baccalaureate nursing graduates' perceptions of their clinical instructional experiences and preparation for practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(1), 35–41. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2009.03.001
- Jan, L. K., & Popescu, L. (2014). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in both social work and nursing practice. Social Work Review / Revista de Asistenta Sociala, 13(1), 91–99. Retrieved from http://www.revistadeasistentasociala.ro/
- Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., & Friebe, T.-R. (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 29, 116– 126. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006
- Jeppesen, K. H., Christiansen, S., & Frederiksen, K. (2017). Education of student nurses A systematic literature review. *Nurse Education Today*.
  doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.05.005

Johnson, E. A., Lasater, K., Hodson-Carlton, K., Siktberg, L., Sideras, S. & Dillard, N. (2012). Geriatrics in simulation: Role modeling and clinical judgment effect. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *33*(3), 176–180. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-33.3.176.

- Ju-Hui, M. & Sook-Hee Y. (2018). Factors influencing patient safety nursing activities of nurses in long-term care hospitals. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 24(4), 307. doi:10.11111/jkana.2018.24.4.307
- Kelly, M. A., Berragan, E., Husebø, S. E., Orr, F., (2016). Simulation in Nursing Education—International Perspectives and Contemporary Scope of Practice. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 48(3), 312–321. doi:10.1111/jnu.12208
- Lavoie, P., Pepin, J. & Cossette, S. (2014) Contribution of a debriefing after simulation to student nurses' clinical judgment regarding patient deterioration: A protocol. *Dynamics*, 25(2), 49–50. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Lewallen, L. P. (2019). The state of the science on clinical evaluation in nursing education. Nursing Education Perspectives (Wolters Kluwer Health), 40(1), 4–10. doi:10.1097/01.NEP.00000000000376
- Lindsey, P. L. & Jenkins, S. (2013). Nursing students' clinical judgment regarding rapid response: The influence of a clinical simulation education intervention. *Nursing Forum*, 48(1), 61–70. doi:10.1111/nuf.12002
- Lock, J. G. (2019). Simulation as a Remediation Tool for Clinically At-Risk Associate Degree Nursing Students. Scholar Works.

Meyer, M. N., Connors, H., Hou, Q., & Gajewski, B. (2011). The effect of simulation on clinical performance: A junior nursing student clinical comparison study.
 *Simulation in Healthcare*, 6(5), 269–277. doi:10.1097/SIH.0b013e318223a048

Monaghan, T. (2015). A critical analysis of the literature and theoretical perspectives on theory–practice gap amongst newly qualified nurses within the United Kingdom.

Nurse Education Today, 35(8), e1-e7. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.006

- Murray, M., Sundin, D., & Cope, V. (2019). Benner's model and Duchscher's theory:
  Providing the framework for understanding new graduate nurses' transition to
  practice. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *34*, 199–203.
  doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.12.003
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2005). Clinical instruction in prelicensure nursing programs. Retrieved from

https://www.ncsbn.org/Final\_Clinical\_Instr\_Pre\_Nsg\_programs.pdf

- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2018). Educational programs. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/670.htm
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2020). Passing Standard. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/2630.htm

Nevada State Board of Nursing. (n.d.). Education. Retrieved from https://nevadanursingboard.org/education-and-continuing-education/

- Nursing Solutions Inc. (2016). 2016 National healthcare retention & RN staffing report. Retrieved from http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Files/assets/library/retentioninstitute/NationalHealthcareRNRetentionReport2016.pdf
- Odland, L. H., Sneltvedt, T., & Sörlie, V. (2014). Responsible but unprepared:
  Experiences of newly educated nurses in hospital care. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 14(5), 538–543. doi:10.1016.2014.05.005
- Palaganas, J. C. (2015). *Defining excellence in simulation programs*. China: Wolters Kluwer.

- Poster E, Adams P, Clay C, Garcia BR, Hallman A, Jackson B, ... Yuill N. (2005). The Texas model of differentiated entry-level competencies of graduates of nursing programs. *Nursing Education Perspectives (National League for Nursing)*, 26(1), 18–23. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Remler, D.K., & Van Ryzin, G.G. (2015). Research methods in practice: Strategies for description and causation (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Rice, E. (2015). Predictors of successful clinical performance in associate degree nursing Students. *Nurse Educator*, 40(4), 207–211. doi:10.1097/NNE.
- Sahu, P. K., Chattu, V. K., Rewatkar, A., & Sakhamuri, S. (2019). Best practices to impart clinical skills during preclinical years of medical curriculum. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 8, 57. doi:10.4103/jehp.jehp\_354\_18
- Schlairet, M. C., & Fenster, M. J. (2012). Dose and sequence of simulation and direct care experiences among beginning nursing students: A pilot study. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 51(12), 668–675. doi:10.3928/01484834-20121005-03
- Sittner, B. J., Aebersold, M. L., Paige, J. B., Graham, L. L., Schram, A. P., Decker, S. I., & Lioce, L. (2015). INACSL Standards of Best Practice for Simulation: Past, Present, and Future. *Nursing education perspectives*, *36*(5), 294–298. doi:10.5480/15-1670
- Smiley, R. A. (2019). Survey of simulation use in prelicensure nursing programs:
  Changes and advancements, 2010–2017. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 9(4), 48–61. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(19)30016-X.

Solem, K & Stewart, T. L. (n.d.). Examining the transition for new graduate professional

RN. *Journal of Nursing*. https://rn-journal.com/journal-of-nursing/examining-the-transition-for-new-graduate-professional-rn

- Spector, N., Hooper, J., Silvestre, J., & Qian, H. (2018). Board of nursing approval of registered nurse education programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 8(4), 22–23. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(17)30178-3
- Sportsman, S., Schumacker, R. E., & Hamilton, P. (2011). Evaluating the impact of scenario-based high fidelity patient simulation on academic metrics of student success. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 32(4), 259–265. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-32.4.259
- Struksnes, S., & Engelien, R. I. (2016). Nursing students' conception of clinical skills training before and after their first clinical placement: A quantitative, evaluative study. *Nurse education in practice*, *16*(1), 125–132. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2015.10.009
- Torabi, M., & Zadeh, N. M. (2018). The effect of clinical instruction based on mentorship patterns on clinical competencies of the nursing students. Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science. 6(2), 305–310. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/
- Warner, R. M. (2013). *Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Watson, K., Wright, A., Morris, N., McMeeken, J., Rivett, D., Blackstock, F., . . . Jull, G. (2012). Can simulation replace part of clinical time? Two parallel randomized controlled trials. *Medical Education*, 46(7), 657–667. doi:10.1111/j.1365-

2923.2012.04295.x

- Wiggins, L. L. (2018). Using Evidence-Based Best Practices of Simulation, Checklists,
  Deliberate Practice, and Debriefing to Develop and Improve a Regional
  Anesthesia Training Course. AANA Journal, 86(2), 119–126. Retrieved from
  https://www.aana.com/publications/aana-journal
- Wu, X. V., Enskär, K., Lee, C. C. S., & Wang, W. (2015). A systematic review of clinical assessment for undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, 35(2), 347–359. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2014.11.016

#### Part 3: Summary

#### **Integration of the Studies**

These three research projects showed that there was no correlation between program type of ADN or BSN and NCLEX pass rates. There was also no correlation between the total number of clinical hours or where those hours were spent between skills lab, simulation, and patient care and NCLEX pass rates. These findings suggest that all nursing programs and the minimum number of clinical hours and both ADN and BSN programs are adequately preparing nursing students to pass the NCLEX; however, the finding also support previous research that suggested the NCLEX may not be an adequate measurement of nurses preparedness to enter practice (Ackerson & Stiles, 2018; Monaghan, 2015; Odland, Sneltvdt, & Sörlie, 2014).

I also found that there was a significant difference between the total number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours between ADN and BSN programs. BSN programs have significantly more total number of clinical hours and patient care clinical hours. BSN prepared nurses have also been shown to be able to provide higher levels of care rates (Aiken, Clarke, Cheung, et al., 2003; Aiken, Sloane, et al., 2013; Blegen et al., 2013; Estabrooks et al., 2005; Tourangeau et al., 2007). Thus, BSN students completing more clinical and patient care clinical hours than ADN students and may be one factor contributing to BSN prepared nurses being able to provide higher levels of care, which supports Benner's (1984) theory that experience leads to development of expertise. However, more research is needed in clinical education to see if the time in clinical correlates with higher levels of care provided.

There was no correlation between clinical hours and NCLEX pass rates, but the prominence of evidence of the theory–practice gap in the literature suggests that passing the NCLEX alone may not be an adequate measure of readiness for entry into practice for newly graduated nurses (Hickerson et al., 2016; Hussein & Osuji, 2016; Saifan et al., 2015). Further research is needed to determine whether more clinical hours or patient care clinical hours correlate with other measures of readiness for entry into practice such as length of orientation time needed to be independent in practice and nurses staying at the bedside. Because there is much variation in the number of hours of clinical prelicensure nursing students complete, more research is also needed to establish best clinical education practices to create more efficient and effective clinical education practices that would better prepare new nurses for entry into practice.

#### Conclusion

Clinical hours are an essential portion of clinical education. My findings suggest that clinical education led to higher levels of care because BSN programs had more clinical hours and more patient care clinical hours as compared to ADN programs, and BSN nurses have been shown to provide higher levels of care than ADN nurses. The lack of correlation between the number of clinical hours and program type and NCLEX pass rates suggest that clinical hours and program type of ADN or BSN are not important for students to pass the NCLEX but also suggest that passing the NCLEX alone is not an adequate measure of readiness to enter into practice. More research is needed to determine whether completing more clinical hours in prelicensure education leads to new nurses being able to provide higher levels of care and to establish best clinical education practices.

#### References

- Ackerson, K., & Stiles, K. A. (2018). Value of nurse residency programs in retaining new graduate nurses and their potential effect on the nursing shortage. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 49(6), 282–288. doi:10.3928/00220124-20180517-09
- Aiken, L. H., Cimiotti, J. P., Sloane, D. M., Smith, H. L., Flynn, L., & Neff, D. F. (2011).
  Effects of nurse staffing and nurse education on patient deaths in hospitals with different nurse work environments. *Medical Care*, 49, 1047–1053.
  doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182330b6e
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Cheung, R. B., Salone, D. M., & Silber, J. H. (2003).
  Educational levels of hospital nurses and surgical patient mortality. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 290, 1617–1623. doi:10.1001/jama.290.12.1617
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. N., Lake, E. T., & Cheney, T. (2009). Effects of hospital care environment on patient mortality and nurse outcomes. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 39(7/8), S45–S51. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181aeb4cf
- Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., & Sermeus, W. (2013).
  Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 50(2), 143–153. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.11.009
- Alexander, M., Durhan, C., Hooper, J., Jeffries, P., Goldman, N., KardongEdgren, S., & Tillman, C. (2015). NCSBN simulation guidelines for prelicensure nursing programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 6, 39–42. doi:10.1016/S2155-

8256(15)30783-3

All, A., & Freeman, J. (2017). Academic support programs utilized for nursing students at risk of academic failure: a review of the literature. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 38(2), 69–74. doi:10.1097/01.NEP.000000000000089

Anbari, A. B., & Vogelsmeier, A. (2018). Associate degree in nursing-to-bachelor of science in nursing graduates' education and their perceived ability to keep patients safe. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *57*(5), 300–303. doi:10.3928/01484834-20180420-09

- Arzani, A., Lotfi, M., & Abedi, A. R. (2016). Experiences and clinical decision-making of operating room nurses based on Benner's theory. *Majallah-i Dānishgāhi Ulūm-i Pizishkī-i Bābul*, 18(4), 35–40. Retrieved from http://jbums.org/
- Bathish, M., Wilson, C., & Potempa, K. (2018). Deliberate practice and nurse competence. *Applied Nursing Research*, 40, 106–109.
  doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2018.01.002
- Battista, A. (2017). An activity theory perspective of how scenario-based simulations support learning: a descriptive analysis. *Advances in Simulation*, 2(23), 581-588. doi:10.1:186/s41077-017-0055-0
- Benner, P. E. (1984). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in clinical nursing practice. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Benner, P. E., Chesla, C. A., & Tanner, C. A. (2009). Expertise in nursing practice: Caring, clinical judgment & ethics. New York, NY: Springer.
- Benner, P., Sutphen, M., Leonard, V., & Day, L. (2010). Educating nurses: A call for

radical transformation. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.

- Bennett, L. L., Grimsley, A., Grimsley, L, & Rodd, J. (2017). The gap between nursing education and skills. *The ABNF Journal*, 28(4), 96–102. Retrieved from http://tuckerpub.com/abnf.htm
- Beroz, S. (2017). A statewide survey of simulation practices using NCSBN simulation guidelines. *C*linical Simulation in Nursing, *13*(6), 270–277.
  doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2017.03.005
- Blegen, M. A., Goode, C. J., Park, S. H., Vaughn, T., & Spetz, J. (2013). Baccalaureate education in nursing and patient outcomes. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 43(2), 89–94. doi:10.1097/NNA.0b013e31827f2028
- Bobay, K., Gentile, D. L., & Hagle, M. E. (2009). The relationship of nurses' professional characteristics to levels of clinical nursing expertise. *Applied Nursing Research*, 22(1), 48–53. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2007.03.00
- Bowling, A. M., Cooper, R., Kellish, A., Kubin, L., & Smith, T. (2018). No evidence to support number of clinical hours necessary for nursing competency. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 39, 27–36. doi:10.1016/2017.12.012
- Bradley, C. S., Johnson, B. K., Dreifuerst, K. T., White, P., Conde, S. K., Meakim, C. H., ... Childress, R. M. (2019). Regulation of simulation use in United States prelicensure nursing programs. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 33, 17–25. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2019.04.004
- Breymier, T. L., Rutherford-Hemming, T., Horsley, T. L., Atz, T., Smith, L. G., Badowski, D., & Connor, K. (2015). Substitution of clinical experience with

simulation in prelicensure nursing programs: A national survey in the United States. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *11*(11), 472–478. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2015.09.004

- Brown, D. K., Wong, A. H., & Ahmed, R. A. (2018). Evaluation of simulation debriefing methods with interprofessional learning. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 32(6), 779–781. doi:10.1080/13561820.2018.1500451
- Bugaj, T. J., & Nikendei, C. (2016). Practical clinical training in skills labs: Theory and practice. GMS Journal for Medical Education, 33(4). doi:10.3205/zma001062
- Cabaniss, R. (2014). Faculty identification of competencies addressing quality and safety education in Alabama associate degree nursing education programs. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, *9*(4), 181–192. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2014.05.004
- California Board of Registered Nursing. (2016). California board of registered nursing 2014-2015 annual school report. Retrieved from

http://www.rn.ca.gov/pdfs/education/schoolrpt14-15.pdf

- California State Board of Nursing. (2019). Education. Retrieved from https://www.rn.ca.gov/education/index.shtml
- Caputi, L. (2018) *Think like a nurse*. Rolling Meadows, IL: Windy City.
- Cheng, A., Eppich, W., Grant, V., Sherbino, J., Zendejas, B., & Cook, D. A. (2014).
  Debriefing for technology-enhanced simulation: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Medical Education*, 48(7), 657–666. doi:0.1111/medu.12432
- Cho, E., Sloane, D. M., Kim, E. Y., Kim, S., Choi, M., Yoo, I. Y., ... Aiken, L. H. (2015). Effects of nurse staffing, work environments, and education on patient mortality:

An observational study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(2), 535–542. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.08.006

- Clarke, S. P., Rockett, J. L., Sloane, D. M., & Aiken, L. H. (2002). Organizational climate, staffing, and safety equipment as predictors of needlestick injuries and near-misses in hospital nurses. *AJIC: American Journal of Infection Control*, 30(4), 207–216. doi:10.1067/mic.2002.123392
- Davis, A., & Maisano, P. (2016). Patricia Benner: Novice to expert-A concept whose time has come (again). Oklahoma Nurse, 61(3), 13–15. Retrieved from https://www.nursingald.com/articles/16408-patricia-benner-novice-to-expert-aconcept-whose-time-has-come-again
- Diede, N., McNish G, & Coose C. (2000). Performance expectations of the associate degree nurse graduate within the first six months. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 39(7), 302–307. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Elhami, S., Mousaviasl, S., Zahedi, A., & Ban, M. (2018). Self-evaluation of nurses clinical competency based on Benner theory. *Middle East Journal of Family Medicine*, 16(3), 186–192. doi:10.5742/MEWFM.2018.93329
- Estabrooks, C. A., Midodzi, W. K., Cummings, G. G., Ricker, K. L., & Giovannetti, P. (2005). The impact of hospital nursing characteristics on 30-day mortality. *Nursing Research*, 54(2), 74–84. doi:10.1097/00006199-200503000-00002
- Fero, L. J., Witsberger, C. M., Wesmiller, S. W., Zullo, T. G., & Hoffman, L. A. (2009). Critical thinking ability of new graduate and experienced nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 65(1), 139–148. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04834.x

Fey, M. K., & Kardong-Edgren, S. (2017). State of research on simulation in nursing education programs. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 33(6), 397–398. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2017.10.009

Fischer, K. M. (2016). How the educational funding provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act will affect the nursing shortage in the United States. *Northwestern Journal of Law and Social Policy*, 11(1), 54–77. Retrieved from https://jlsp.law.northwestern.edu/

- Fisher, M. (2014). A comparison of professional value development among pre-licensure nursing students in associate degree, diploma, and bachelor of science in nursing programs. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 35(1), 37–42. doi:10.5480/11-729.1
- Flott, E. A., & Linden, L. (2016). The clinical learning environment in nursing education:
  A concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(3), 501–513.
  doi:10.1111/jan.12861

Forber, J., DiGiacomo, M., Carter, B., Davidson, P., Phillips, J., & Jackson, D. (2016). In pursuit of an optimal model of undergraduate nurse clinical education: An integrative review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 21, 83–92. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.09.007

Fraley, T. E. (2016). Transitioning novice nurses to expert nurses in progressive telemetry care. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.gardnerwebb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1246&context=nursing\_etd

Fulcher, R, Mullin, C. M. (2011). A data-driven examination of the impact of associate and bachelor's degree programs on the nation's nursing workforce. Washington, DC: American Association of Community Colleges. (AACC Policy Brief 2011-02PBL).

- Garside, J. R. & Nhemachena, J. Z. (2013). A concept analysis of competence and its transition in nursing. *Nurse Education Today*, 33(5), 541–545. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.12.007
- Goode, C. J., Ponte, P. R., & Havens, D. S. (2016). Residency for transition into practice an essential requirement for new graduates from basic RN programs. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 46(2), 82–86. doi:10.1097/NNA.000000000000300
- Gore, T., & Thomson, W. (2016). Use of simulation in undergraduate and graduate education. AACN Advanced Critical Care, 27(1), 86–95. doi:10.4037/aacnacc2016329
- Grealish, L., van de Mortel, T., Brown, C., Frommolt, V., Grafton, E., Havell, M., ...
  Armit, L. (2018). Redesigning clinical education for nursing students and newly qualified nurses: A quality improvement study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *33*, 84–89. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.09.005
- Grealish, L., van de Mortel, T., Brown, C., Frommolt, V., Grafton, E., Havell, M., ... Armit, L. (2018). Redesigning clinical education for nursing students and newly qualified nurses: A quality improvement study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 33, 84–89.\_doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.09.005
- Grochow, D. (2008). From novice to expert: transitioning graduate nurses. *Nursing Management*, *39*(3), 10–12. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000313089.04519.f4

Haraldseid, C., Friberg, F., & Aase, K. (2015). Nursing students' perceptions of factors

influencing their learning environment in a clinical skills laboratory: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, *35*(9), e1–e6. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.015

- Hayden, J., Smiley, R., Alexander, M., Kardong-Edgren, S., & Jeffries, P. (2014)
  NCSBN national simulation study; A longitudinal, randomized, controlled study
  replacing clinical hours with simulation in prelicensure nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Regulation. 5*, S1–S64. doi:10.1061/S2155-8256(15)20783-3
- Hickerson, K. A., Taylor, L. A., & Terhaar, M. F. (2016). The preparation-practice gap:
  An integrative literature review. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 47(1), 17–23. doi:10.3928/00220124-20151230-06
- Hickey, M. T. (2010). Baccalaureate nursing graduates' perceptions of their clinical instructional experiences and preparation for practice. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 26(1), 35–41. doi:10.1016/j.profnurs.2009.03.001
- Hockenberry, J. M., & Becker, E. R. (2016). How do hospital nurse staffing strategies affect patient satisfaction? *ILR Review*, 69(4), 890–910. doi:10.1177/0019793916642760
- Hofler, L., & Thomas, K. (2016). Transition of new graduate nurses to the workforce:
  Challenges and solutions in the changing health care environment. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 77(2), 133–136. doi:10.18043/ncm.77.2.133
- Horntvedt, M.-E. T., Nordsteien, A., Fermann, T., & Severinsson, E. (2018). Strategies for teaching evidence-based practice in nursing education: a thematic literature review. *BMC Medical Education*, 18(1), 172. doi:10.1186/12909-018-1278

Hussein, M. T. & Osuji, J. (2016). Bridging the theory-practice dichotomy in nursing:

The role of nurse educators. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 7(3), 20–25. doi:10.5430/jnep.v7n3p20

- Jan, L. K., & Popescu, L. (2014). From novice to expert: Excellence and power in both social work and nursing practice. Social Work Review / Revista de Asistenta Sociala, 13(1), 91–99. Retrieved from http://www.revistadeasistentasociala.ro/
- Jayasekara, R., Smith, C., Hall, C., Rankin, E., Smith, M., Visvanathan, V., & Friebe, T.-R. (2018). The effectiveness of clinical education models for undergraduate nursing programs: A systematic review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 29, 116– 126. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2017.12.006
- Jeppesen, K. Ha., Christiansen, S., & Frederiksen, K. (2017). Education of student nurses
  -- A systematic literature review. *Nurse Education Today*.
  doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.05.005
- Johnson, E. A., Lasater, K., Hodson-Carlton, K., Siktberg, L., Sideras, S. & Dillard, N. (2012). Geriatrics in simulation: Role modeling and clinical judgment effect. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *33*(3), 176–180. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-33.3.176.
- Ju-Hui, M. & Sook-Hee Y. (2018). Factors influencing patient safety nursing activities of nurses in long-term care hospitals. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 24(4), 307. doi:10.11111/jkana.2018.24.4.307
- Kalb, K. A., O'Conner-Von, S. K., Brockway, C., Rierson, C. L., & Sendelbach, S.
  (2015). Evidence-based teaching practice in nursing education: Faculty perspectives and practices. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, *36*(4), 212–219.

doi:10.5480/14-1472

- Kelly, M. A., Berragan, E., Husebø, S. E., Orr, F., (2016). Simulation in Nursing Education—International Perspectives and Contemporary Scope of Practice. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 48(3), 312–321. doi:10.1111/jnu.12208
- Kennedy, G. D., Tevis, S. E., & Kent, K. C. (2014). Is there a relationship between patient satisfaction and favorable outcomes? *Annals of Surgery*, 260(4), 592. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000000932
- Kutney-Lee, A., McHugh, M. D., Sloane, D. M., Cimiotti, J. P., Flynn, L., Neff, D. F., & Aiken, L. H. (2009). Nursing: A key to patient satisfaction. *Health Affairs*, 28(4), w669. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.28.4.w669
- Kutney-Lee, A., Sloane, D. M., & Aiken, L. H. (2013). An increase in the number of nurses with baccalaureate degrees is linked to lower rates of postsurgery mortality. *Health Affairs*, 32(3), 579–586. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.0504
- Lavoie, P., Pepin, J. & Cossette, S. (2014) Contribution of a debriefing after simulation to student nurses' clinical judgment regarding patient deterioration: A protocol. *Dynamics*, 25(2), 49–50. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Lee, S. E., Vincent, C., Dahinten, V. S., Scott, L. D., Park, C. G., & Lopez, K. D. (2018). Effects of individual nurse and hospital characteristics on patient adverse events and quality of care: A multilevel analysis. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 50(4), 432–440. doi:10.1111/jnu.12396
- Lewallen, L. P. (2019). The state of the science on clinical evaluation in nursing education. *Nursing Education Perspectives (Wolters Kluwer Health)*, 40(1), 4–10.

- Lewallen, L. P., & DeBrew, J. K. (2012). Successful and unsuccessful clinical nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 51(7), 389–395. doi:10.3928/01484834-20120427-01
- Lindsey, P. L. & Jenkins, S. (2013). Nursing students' clinical judgment regarding rapid response: The influence of a clinical simulation education intervention. *Nursing Forum*, 48(1), 61–70. doi:10.1111/nuf.12002
- Lock, J. G. (2019). Simulation as a Remediation Tool for Clinically At-Risk Associate Degree Nursing Students. ScholarWorks.
- Loversidge, J., Yen, P.-Y., Chipps, E., Gallagher-Ford, L., Genter, L., & Buck, J. (2018).
  Top-of-license nursing practice, part 2: Differentiating BSN and ADN perceptions of top-of-license activities. *The Journal Of Nursing Administration*, 48(6), 329–334. doi:10.1097/NNA.000000000000623
- Lyneham, J., Parkinson, C., & Denholm, C. (2008). Explicating Benner's concept of expert practice: Intuition in emergency nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 64(4), 380–387. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04799.x
- Marion, T., Marie, C., Bernadette, W., Nick, B., & Keithia, W. (2015). Exploring the transition experiences of students entering into preregistration nursing degree programs with previous professional nursing qualifications: an integrative review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, (910), 1174. doi:10.1111/jocn.12756
- McHugh, M. D., & Lake, E. T. (2010). Understanding clinical expertise: Nurse education, experience, and the hospital context. *Research in nursing & health,*

33(4), 276–287. doi: 10.1002/nur.20388

- Melnyk, B. M., Gallagher, F. L., Zellefrow, C., Tucker, S., Thomas, B., Sinnott, L. T., & Tan, A. (2018). The first US study on nurses' evidence-based practice competencies indicates major deficits that threaten healthcare quality, safety, and patient outcomes. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 15(1), 16–25. doi:10.1111/wvn.12269
- Mendes, M. A., da Cruz, D., & Angelo, M. (2014). Clinical role of the nurse: A concept analysis. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 24(3–4), 318–331. doi:10.1111/jocn.12545
- Meyer, M. N., Connors, H., Hou, Q., & Gajewski, B. (2011). The effect of simulation on clinical performance: A junior nursing student clinical comparison study.
   *Simulation in Healthcare*, 6(5), 269–277. doi:10.1097/SIH.0b013e318223a048
- Monaghan, T. (2015). A critical analysis of the literature and theoretical perspectives on theory–practice gap amongst newly qualified nurses within the United Kingdom.
   *Nurse Education Today*, 35(8), e1–e7. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.03.006
- Murray, M., Sundin, D.., & Cope, V. (2019). Benner's model and Duchscher's theory: Providing the framework for understanding new graduate nurses' transition to practice. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *34*, 199–203. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2018.12.003
- National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2005). Clinical instruction in prelicensure nursing programs. Retrieved from

https://www.ncsbn.org/Final\_Clinical\_Instr\_Pre\_Nsg\_programs.pdf National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2018) Educational programs. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/670.htm

National Council of State Boards of Nursing. (2019) Licensure. Retrieved from https://www.ncsbn.org/licensure.htm

National League for Nursing. (n.d.). Simulation. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/professional-development-programs/simulation

National League for Nursing. (n.d.). Simulation. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/professional-development-programs/simulation

Nevada State Board of Nursing. (n.d.). Education. Retrieved from https://nevadanursingboard.org/education-and-continuing-education/

Northrup-Snyder, K., Menkens, R. M., & Dean, M. (2017). Student competency perceptions from associate degree to bachelor degree completion. *The Journal Of Nursing Education*, 56(10), 581–590. doi:10.3928/01484834-20170918-02

- Nursing Solutions Inc. (2019). 2019 National health care retention & R.N. staffing report. Retrieved from http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Files/assets/library/retentioninstitute/2019%20National%20Health%20Care%20Retention%20Report.pdf
- Nursing Solutions Inc., (2016) 2016 National healthcare retention & RN staffing report. Retrieved from http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/Files/assets/library/retentioninstitute/NationalHealthcareRNRetentionReport2016.pdf

Obermann, M. H., De Gagne, J. C., & Phillips, B. C. (2018). *Teaching in nursing and role of the educator: The Complete guide to best practice in teaching, evaluation, and curriculum development* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Co.

Odland, L. H., Sneltvedt, T., & Sörlie, V. (2014). Responsible but unprepared:
Experiences of newly educated nurses in hospital care. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *14*(5), 538–543. doi:10.1016.2014.05.005

Ortiz, J. (2016). New graduate nurses' experiences about lack of professional confidence. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *19*, 19–24. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2016.04.001

Ozdemir, N. G. (2019) The development of nurses' individualized care perceptions and practices: Benner's novice to expert model perspective. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, *12*(2), 1279–1285. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofcaringsciences.org/

- Pai, H.C. (2016). An integrated model for the effects of self-reflection and clinical experiential learning on clinical nursing performance in nursing students: A longitudinal study. *Nurse Education Today*, 45, 156–162. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2016.07.011
- Palaganas, J. C. (2015). *Defining excellence in simulation programs*. China: Wolters Kluwer.
- Poster E, Adams P, Clay C, Garcia BR, Hallman A, Jackson B, ... Yuill N. (2005). The Texas model of differentiated entry-level competencies of graduates of nursing programs. *Nursing Education Perspectives (National League for Nursing)*, 26(1), 18–23. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Potter, K. (2018). Why Are Students Failing Clinical? Clinical Instructors Weigh In. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 13(2), 75–77. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2017.12.006
- Read, E., & Laschinger, H. K. S. (2017). Transition experiences, intrapersonal resources,

and job retention of new graduate nurses from accelerated and traditional nursing programs: A cross-sectional comparative study. *Nurse Education Today*, *59*, 53–58. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.08.014

- Remler, D.K., & Van Ryzin, G.G. (2015). Research methods in practice: Strategies for description and causation (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Rice, E. (2015). Predictors of successful clinical performance in associate degree nursing students. *Nurse Educator*, *40*(4), 207–211. doi:10.1097/NNE.
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). *Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Ruth-Sahd, L. (2014). A call to action: nursing education must embrace change and move forward. *Dimensions of critical-care nursing*, *33*(1), 28–33.
doi:10.10947/DCC.000000000000020

- Sahu, P. K., Chattu, V. K., Rewatkar, A., & Sakhamuri, S. (2019). Best practices to impart clinical skills during preclinical years of medical curriculum. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 8, 57. doi:10.4103/jehp.jehp\_354\_18
- Saifan, A., AbuRuz, M. E., & Masa'deh, R. (2015). Theory practice gaps in nursing education: A qualitative perspective. *Journal of Social Sciences / Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 11(1), 20–29. doi:10.3844/jsssp.2015.20.29

Schlairet, M. C., & Fenster, M. J. (2012). Dose and sequence of simulation and direct care experiences among beginning nursing students: A pilot study. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 51(12), 668–675. doi:10.3928/01484834-20121005-03

Sharghi, N. R., Alami, A., Khosravan, S., Mansoorian, M. A., & Ekerami, A. (2015).

Academic training and clinical placement problems to achieve nursing competency. *Journal of Advances in Medical Education and Professionalism*, *3*(1), 15–20. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

- Shin, S., Park, J.H., & Kim, J.H. (2015). Effectiveness of patient simulation in nursing education: Meta-analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 35(1), 176–182. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2014.09.009
- Sittner, B. J., Aebersold, M. L., Paige, J. B., Graham, L. L., Schram, A. P., Decker, S. I., & Lioce, L. (2015). INACSL Standards of Best Practice for Simulation: Past, Present, and Future. *Nursing education perspectives*, *36*(5), 294–298. doi.org:10.5480/15-1670
- Smiley, R. A. (2019). Survey of simulation use in prelicensure nursing programs:
  Changes and advancements, 2010–2017. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 9(4), 48–61. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(19)30016-X.
- Smith, M. J., & Fitzpatrick, J. J. (2006). Best practices in nursing education: stories of exemplary teachers. [electronic resource]. New York, NY: Springer Publishing.
- Society for Simulation in Health Care. (2018). Healthcare Simulationist Code of Ethics. Retrieved from: https://www.ssih.org/SSH-Resources/Code-of-Ethics
- Society for Simulation in Health Care. (n.d.). CHSE Certified Healthcare Simulation Educator. Retrieved from https://www.ssih.org/Credentialing/Certification/CHSE
- Solem, K & Stewart, T. L. (n.d.). Examining the transition for new graduate professional RN. *Journal of Nursing*. https://rn-journal.com/journal-of-nursing/examining-thetransition-for-new-graduate-professional-rn

- Spector N., Blegen M.A., Silvestre J., Barnsteiner J., Lynn M.R., Ulrich B.... Alexander M. (2015). Transition to practice study in hospital settings. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 5(4), 24–38. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(15)30031-4
- Spector, N., Hooper, J., Silvestre, J., & Qian, H. (2018). Board of nursing approval of registered nurse education programs. *Journal of Nursing Regulation*, 8(4), 22–23. doi:10.1016/S2155-8256(17)30178-3
- Sportsman, S., Schumacker, R. E., & Hamilton, P. (2011). Evaluating the impact of scenario-based high fidelity patient simulation on academic metrics of student success. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 32(4), 259–265. doi:10.5480/1536-5026-32.4.259
- Struksnes, S., & Engelien, R. I. (2016). Nursing students' conception of clinical skills training before and after their first clinical placement: A quantitative, evaluative study. *Nurse education in practice*, *16*(1), doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2015.10.009
- Thomas, C. M., & Kellgren, M. (2017). Benner's novice to expert model: An application for simulation facilitators. *Nursing science quarterly*, 30(3), 227–234. doi:10.1177/0894318417708410
- Torabi, M., & Zadeh, N. M. (2018). The effect of clinical instruction based on mentorship patterns on clinical competencies of the nursing students. Journal of Research in Medical and Dental Science. 6(2), 305–310. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/
- Tourangeau, A. E., Doran, D. M., McGillis Hall, L., O'Brien Pallas, L., Pringle, D., Tu, J.V., & Cranley, L. A. (2007). Impact of hospital nursing care on 30-day mortality

for acute medical patients. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 57(1), 32-44.

doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.04084.x

- Trofino, R. M. (2013). Relationship of associate degree nursing program criteria with NCLEX success: What are the best predictors in a nursing program of passing the NCLEX the first time? *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 8(1), 4–12. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2012.08.001
- Tsai, T. C., Orav, E. J., & Jha, A. K. (2015). Patient satisfaction and quality of surgical care in U.S. hospitals. *Annals of Surgery*, 261(1), 2. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000000765
- Uhrenfeldt, L., & Hall, E. O. C. (2007). Clinical wisdom among proficient nurses. *Nursing Ethics*, *14*(3), 387–398. doi:10.1177/0969733007075886
- Van Den Boogaard, T. C., Roodbol, P. F., Poslawsky, L. E., & Ten Hoeve, Y. (2019).
  The orientation and attitudes of intermediate vocational trained nursing students (MBO-V) towards their future profession: A pre-post survey. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 37, 124–131. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2019.04.007
- Watson, K., Wright, A., Morris, N., McMeeken, J., Rivett, D., Blackstock, F., . . . Jull, G. (2012). Can simulation replace part of clinical time? Two parallel randomized controlled trials. *Medical Education*, 46(7), 657–667. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04295.x
- Wiggins, L. L. (2018). Using Evidence-Based Best Practices of Simulation, Checklists,
   Deliberate Practice, and Debriefing to Develop and Improve a Regional
   Anesthesia Training Course. AANA Journal, 86(2), 119–126. Retrieved from

https://www.aana.com/publications/aana-journal

- Wu, X. V., Enskär, K., Lee, C. C. S., & Wang, W. (2015). A systematic review of clinical assessment for undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, 35(2), 347–359. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2014.11.016
- Yun, J., Kim, D.H. & Park, Y. (2019). The influence of informal learning and learning transfer on nurses' clinical performance: A descriptive cross-sectional study. *Nurse Education Today*, 80, 85–90. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2019.05.027

## Appendix A: Survey

If you feel you understand the study well enough to make a decision about it, please indicate your consent by clicking the "yes" below.

\_\_\_Yes

\_\_\_No

What type of prelicensure program are you providing data for?

\_\_Associate's degree

\_\_Bachelor's degree

How many students graduated the program in 2019?

How many students from this program took the NCLEX for the first time in 2019?

How many of the students that took the NCLEX for the first time in 2019 passed the

NCLEX on the first attempt?

What is the total number of clinical hours the 2019 graduates completed in the

prelicensure program?

How many of those clinical hours were spent in the skills lab (not including simulation)? How many of those clinical hours were spent in simulation?

How many of those clinical hours were spent in the facilities providing patient care? Thank you for completing this survey! If you would like to be notified of how to access the results of this research once it is complete you may enter your email below. You will then be emailed when the results of this study are available to the public

RID	R	РТ	#	# of	Passed	%	Total	SLH	SHs	PCH
			graduated	who	NCLEX	pass/take	hours			
			e	took		•				
				NCLEX						
59512252	IL	1	24.00	24.00	22.00	91.67	750.00	64.00	32.00	654.00
59516935	WA	0	26.00	26.00	25.00	96.15	552.00	0.00	83.00	469.00
59521108	ΤХ	1	32.00	29.00	27.00	93.10	845.00		295.75	549.25
59521801	VA	1	110.00	110.00	108.00	98.18	575.00		40.00	535.00
59531266	CO	0	65.00	65.00	63.00	96.92	750.00	0.00	275.00	475.00
59574911	NY	0	65.00	65.00	55.00	84.62	665.00	42.00	35.00	588.00
59597580	NC	0	20.00	21.00	20.00	95.24	620.00	10.00	155.00	455.00
59600524	OH	1	23.00	23.00	23.00	100.00	662.00	251.00	0.00	662.00
59753355	CO	1	387.00	350.00	335.00	95.71	750.00	80.00	300.00	450.00
59805419	NC	0	31.00	31.00	27.00	87.10	816.00	52.00	100.00	664.00
59891342	MN	1	4.00	4.00	4.00	100.00	450.00	0.00	0.00	450.00
59902268	ΤX	0	52.00	52.00	50.00	96.15	704.00	128.00	72.00	504.00
60269284	CA	1	23.00	23.00	22.00	95.65	945.00	90.00	40.00	835.00
62249400	IN	1	43.00	43.00	41.00	95.35	655.00	45.00	20.00	567.00
62249503	CA	0	59.00	59.00	58.00	98.31	1296.00	231.00	64.00	1001.00
62249767	AL	0	40.00	39.00	26.00	66.67	810.00	135.00	48.00	627.00
62250403	AL	0	9.00	9.00	9.00	100.00	810.00	220.00	95.00	495.00
62250455	MI	1	45.00	45.00	43.00	95.56	675.00	20.00	10.00	645.00
62251006	OR	1	49.00	49.00	44.00	89.80	780.00	120.00	16.00	644.00
62252397	FL	0	240.00	240.00	214.00	89.17	848.00	0.00	124.00	724.00
62253555	UT	0	276.00	250.00	229.00	91.60	421.50	59.50	126.00	336.00
62254720	NC	0	32.00	32.00	32.00	100.00	912.00	275.00	80.00	557.00
62256794	ΤX	0	40.00	40.00	40.00	100.00	1008.00	200.00	80.00	1008.00
62260643	SC	0	117.00	117.00	116.00	99.15	500.00	72.00	64.00	364.00
62263949	KY	1				#DIV/0!	942.00	340.00	170.00	602.00
62284491	IL	0	36.00	36.00	32.00	88.89	608.00	80.00	64.00	468.00
62291165	NV	0	51.00	51.00	50.00	98.04	544.00	83.00	39.00	424.00
62316030	AR	1	12.00	11.00	10.00	90.91	810.00	246.00	144.00	420.00
62333061	PA	1	28.00	28.00	26.00	92.86	630.00	0.00	44.00	586.00
62368071	AL	0	148.00	148.00	145.00	97.97	675.00	0.00	32.00	643.00
62841312	MI	0	109.00	109.00	96.00	88.07	426.00	28.00	0.00	398.00
62842907	MT	0	8.00	6.00	4.00	66.67	495.00	45.00	100.00	350.00
62847749	CA	1	77.00	75.00	69.00	92.00	1100.00	60.00	60.00	1000.00
62861970	MI	0	130.00	130.00	128.00	98.46	672.00	4.00	40.00	632.00
62862784	NY	0	61.00	59.00	44.00	74.58	540.00	18.00	0.00	522.00
62927958	NC	0	10.00	10.00	9.00	90.00	226.00	0.00	12.00	214.00
63496519	OK	0	102.00	102.00	85.00	83.33	576.00	107.00	0.00	445.00
63591040	OK	0	72.00	71.00	61.00	85.92	495.00	0.00	27.00	468.00
63592336	ΤХ	1	150.00	150.00	150.00	100.00	700.00	252.00	126.00	700.00
63592653	CO	0	36.00	36.00	35.00	97.22	750.00	90.00	150.00	600.00
63592739	OR	0	29.00	29.00	28.00	96.55	450.00	135.00	45.00	266.00
63593147	WV	1	9.00	4.00	4.00	100.00	600.00	90.00	60.00	510.00
63594240	IA	0	100.00	100.00	95.00	95.00	700.00	0.00	55.00	645.00
63594755	WA	0	98.00	72.00	66.00	91.67	564.00	0.00	0.00	564.00
63594868	WY	0	28.00	28.00	27.00	96.43	572.00	30.00	143.00	300.00
63595419	WY	0	33.00	33.00	32.00	96.97	652.00	120.00	192.00	340.00
63595827	ΑZ	1	37.00	13.00	13.00	100.00	1080.00	120.00	40.00	920.00
63596534	ME	1	185.00	100.00	94.00	94.00	640.00	0.00	57.00	583.00
63596847	GA	1	79.00	79.00	77.00	97.47	850.00	40.00	40.00	800.00
63597037	KY	1	17.00	17.00	17.00	100.00	765.00	250.00	75.00	440.00

Appendix B: Demographic Data Manuscripts 1 and 2

	63597732	MT	0	21.00	17.00	17.00	100.00	620.00	120.00	50.00	452.00
	63599298	WY	0	34.00	34.00	33.00	97.06	320.00		120.00	200.00
	63602142	VA	1	73.00	73.00	71.00	97.26	840.00	28.00	49.00	627.00
-	63603128	NJ	0	16.00	15.00	14.00	93.33	567.00	135.00	9.00	423.00
-	63606081	WV	1	12.00	12.00	11.00	91.67	614.00	0.00	60.00	450.00
-	63607753	NY	0	41.00	39.00	35.00	89.74	515.00	0.00	0.00	515.00
-	63607781	NV	0	34.00	31.00	33.00	07.06	308.00	0.00	0.00	308.00
-	62610140	VS	0	27.00	27.00	25.00	97.00	620.00	20.00	150.00	450.00
-	62616100	MA	1	27.00	27.00	23.00	92.39	<u>850.00</u>	<u> </u>	130.00	430.00
-	63610199		1	79.00	200.00	189.00	94.30	830.00	83.00	42.30	722.30
-	63618/14		1	78.00	39.00	34.00	87.18	1012.50	135.00	60.00	817.50
_	63632695	IN	1	/8.00	81.00	/.00	8.64	/96.00	135.00	25.00	636.00
_	63659136	TN	1	46.00	46.00	45.00	97.83	1125.00	200.00	20.00	850.00
_	63663813	CA	1	227.00	142.00	129.00	90.85	990.00	36.00	54.00	900.00
_	63678621	MI	1	43.00	43.00	41.00	95.35	700.00	12.00	10.00	678.00
_	63678775	NC	0	38.00	36.00	36.00	100.00	900.00	0.00	12.00	888.00
_	63680257	DE	1	42.00	41.00	34.00	82.93	450.00	60.00	112.00	278.00
_	63689165	CA	0	7.00	7.00	781.00	11157.14	810.00	40.00	10.00	765.00
	63689179	IL	0	87.00	85.00	75.00	88.24	600.00	150.00	50.00	450.00
_	63689818	IL	1	145.00	145.00	138.00	95.17	708.00	68.00	64.00	576.00
	63694752	LA	0	53.00	53.00	52.00	98.11	606.00	15.00	50.00	520.00
	63696184	OK	1	33.00	33.00	29.00	87.88	710.00	45.00	0.00	710.00
	63709163	CA	0	155.00	155.00	153.00	98.71	870.00	60.00	45.00	775.00
	63740550	ΤX	1	99.00	99.00	91.00	91.92	675.00	60.00	34.00	581.00
	63741426	OK	0	217.00	114.00	92.00	80.70	336.00	0.00	0.00	336.00
-	63760369	ID	1	80.00	79.00	75.00	94.94	900.00	24.00	130.00	550.00
-	63792363	FL	0	45.00	36.00	21.00	58.33	608.00	100.00	40.00	468.00
-	63801956	OH	0	104.00	100.00	87.00	87.00	765.00	111.00	14.00	646.00
-	63820649	WV	1	30.00	28.00	21.00	75.00	1100.00	112.00	75.00	913.00
-	64222283	NY	-	39.00	38.00	37.00	97 37	600.00	0.00	0.00	600.00
-	64222515	OK	1	42.00	31.00	29.00	93.55	682.00	0.00	0.00	682.00
-	64222515	FI	0	23.00	23.00	22.00	95.65	560.00	0.00	24.00	236.00
-	64222035	OH	1	120.00	120.00	116.00	96.67	720.00	0.00	0.00	720.00
-	64223035	MT	0	20.00	16.00	16.00	100.00	710.00	240.00	36.00	/20.00
-	64224355	MA	0	60.00	50.00	57.00	06.61	765.00	<u>240.00</u> 81.00	40.00	644.00
-	64224406	III	0	40.00	40.00	28.00	90.01	500.00	100.00	40.00	200.00
-	64223349		1	40.00	286.00	277.00	95.00	810.00	100.00	100.00	725.00
-	64223362	UA	1	280.00	280.00	277.00	90.83	610.00	43.00	40.00	723.00 547.00
-	64227355		1	60.00	150.00	30.00	93.33	560.00	08.00	15.00	547.00
-	64227752	KS	1	154.00	150.00	140.00	93.33	560.00	0.00	0.00	560.00
_	64227820		0	110.00	110.00	105.00	95.45	5/6.00	0.00	192.00	384.00
_	64230337	NY	1	05.00	65.00	52.00	80.00	/00.00	0.00	0.00	/00.00
_	64230598	CA	0	32.00	28.00	24.00	85.71	1240.00	240.00	100.00	900.00
_	64230644	IL	0	105.00	91.00	86.00	94.51	460.00	72.00	52.00	336.00
_	64236194	WV	0	80.00	80.00	77.00	96.25	765.00	140.00	117.00	508.00
_	64236402	SC	1	168.00	142.00	128.00	90.14	855.00	180.00	160.00	515.00
_	64237818	VA	1	51.00	51.00	46.00	90.20	624.00	0.00	0.00	624.00
_	64253361	NY	0	113.00	115.00	108.00	93.91	613.00	118.00	29.00	466.00
	64272510	MO	1	106.00	106.00	105.00	99.06		1120.00	300.00	850.00
_	64279904	CA	0	88.00	79.00	76.00	96.20	985.00	134.00	50.00	740.00
	64297559	CA	0	72.00	72.00	68.00	94.44	1081.00	81.00	152.00	848.00
	64324946	WV	0	72.00	72.00	65.00	90.28	625.00	90.00	90.00	445.00
	64326645	NE	1	27.00	26.00	22.00	84.62	1125.00	80.00	92.00	953.00
-	64329674	OK	0	71.00	69.00	63.00	91.30	480.00	0.00	0.00	480.00
-	64334936		0	66.00	66.00	56.00	84.85	308.00	56.00	0.00	252.00
-	64344668	IL	1	66.00	58.00	49.00	84.48	705.00	68.00	25.00	612.00
-	64348778	NY	0	74.00	73.00	63.00	86.30	448.00	0.00	0.00	448.00
-	64349787	MI	0	120.00	120.00	118.00	98.33	700.00	0.00	56.00	644.00
		-·	~		120.00		/ 0.00		0.00	20.00	000

			ID D	•	DT		<b>CT TT</b>	1 . 1 1		011
65223234	CA	0	45.00	45.00	43.00	95.56	1188.00	108.00	162.00	918.00
65216161	VA	0	28.00	28.00	24.00	85.71	530.00	0.00	0.00	530.00
65202315		0	80.00	80.00	76.00	95.00	500.00	60.00	60.00	340.00
65198237	NM	0	12.00	13.00	9.00	69.23	500.00	50.00	25.00	425.00
65196122	OH	0	100.00	100.00	90.00	90.00	618.00	0.00	0.00	618.00
65195595	SD	0	10.00	5.00	4.00	80.00	450.00	88.00	24.00	274.00
64991423	GA	1	180.00	180.00	164.00	91.11	765.00	0.00	126.00	623.00
64946040	MI	1	60.00	58.00	46.00	79.31	675.00	0.00	100.00	575.00
64419919	MS	0	22.00	22.00	20.00	90.91	315.00	60.00	15.00	240.00
64352493	MI	1	8.00	8.00	8.00	100.00	1125.00	135.00	90.00	780.00
64351251	OK	0	102.00	102.00	85.00	83.33	576.00	108.00	0.00	156.00
64350559	IL	0	100.00	100.00	80.00	80.00	725.00	300.00	100.00	600.00

*Note*. RID = response ID, R = region, PT = program type, SLH = skills lab hours, SH =

simulation hours, PCH = patient care hours

## Appendix C: Scripts

Initial script:

Hello, I'm conducting research on clinical education and I'm looking to speak to someone about the number of clinical hours in the program and where they are spent. Can you direct me to who the best person would be to provide me with this information?

## Thank you!

With contact person:

Hello, my name is Kara Potter and I'm a doctoral student at Walden University looking to conduct some research on clinical education and NCLEX pass rates. Are you the right person to contact for this?

If so- Great can I email you a short survey about the number of clinical hours in the program and how many hours are spent in the settings of skills lab, simulation lab, and patient care, and NCLEX pass rates?

If they say yes- Wonderful what is the email address I can send it to? Do you have any questions currently about my research or participation? Thank you so much for your time, and I look forward to receiving your response!

Response ID	Seq.	Region	Program	# of	Total # of	Skills lab	Simulation	Patient
1	#	C	type*	graduates	clinical	hours	hours	care
			••	0	hours			hours
57203019	1	NV	1	32	800	84	46	720
59512252	1	IL	2	24	750	64	32	654
59516935	1	WA	1	26	552	0	83	469
59521108	1	TX	2	32	845		35%	65%
59521801	1	VA	2	110	575		40	535
59531266	1	CO	1	65	750	0	275	475
59574911	1	NY	1	65	665	42	35	588
59597580	1	NC	1	20	620	10	155	455
59600524	1	OH	2	23	662	251	0	662
59753355	1	CO	2	387	750	80	300	450
59805419	1	NC	1	31	816	52	100	664
59902268	1	TX	1	52	704	128	72	504
60269284	1	CA	2	23	945	90	40	835
62249400	1	IN	2	43	655	45	20	567
62249503	1	CA	1	59	1296	231	64	1001
62249767	1	AL	1	40	810	135	48	627
62250455	1	MI	2	45	675	20	10	645
62251006	1	OR	2	49	780	120	16	644
62252397	1	FL	1	240	848	0	124	724
62253555	1	UT	1	276	421.5	59.5	126	336
62254720	1	NC	1	32	912	275	80	557
62256794	1	TX	1	40	1008	200	80	1008
62260643	1	SC	1	117	500	72	64	364
62284491	1	IL.	1	36	608	80	64	468
62291165	1	NV	1	51.00	544	83	39	4248
62316030	1	AR	2	12	810	246	144	420
62333061	1	PA	2	28	630	0	44	586
62368071	1	AL	1	148	675	0	32	643
62841312	1	MI	1	109	426	28	0	398
62847749	1	CA	2	77	1100	60	60	1000
62861970	1	MI	1	130	672	4	40	632
62862784	1	NY	1	61	540	18	0	522
62927958	1	NC	1	10	226	0	12	214
63496519	1	OK	1	102	576	~107	0	445
63591040	1	OK	1	72	495	0	27	468
63592336	1	TX	2	150	700	252	126	700
63592653	1	CO	1	36	750	90	150	600
63592739	1	OR	1	29	450	135	45	266
63594240	1	IA	1	100	700	0	55	645
63594755	1	WA	1	98	564	0	0	564
63594868	1	WY	1	28	572	30	143	300
63595419	1	WY	1	33	652	120	192	340
63595827	1	AZ	2	37	1080	120	40	920
63596534	1	ME	2	185	640	0	55	
63596847	1	GA	2	79	850	40	40	800
63597037	1	KY	2	17	765	250	75	440
63597732	1	MT	1	21	620	120	50	452
63599298	1	WY	1	34	320	-	120	200
63602142	1	VA	2	73	840	28	49	627
63603128	1	NJ	1	16	567	135	9	423

Appendix D: MANOVA Demographics

63606081	1	WV	2	12	614		60	450
63607753	1	NY	1	41	515			515
63607781	1	NY	1	34	308	0	0	308
63610140	1	KS	1	27	630	30	150	450
63616199	1	MA	2		850	85	42.5	722.5
63618714	1	CA	2	78	1.012.5	135	60	817.5
63632695	1	TN	2	78	796	135	25	636
63659136	1	TN	2	46	1125	200	20	850
63663813	1		2	227	990	36	54	900
63678621	1	MI	2	13	700	12	10	678
63678775	1	NC	1	43	900	0	10	800
62690257	1	DE	2	12	450	60	112	278
62680165	1		<u> </u>	42	430	40	112	210
03089103	1		1	/	610	40	10	/03
63689179	1		1	8/	<u> </u>	150	50	430
63689818	1		2	145	/08	68	64	576
63694752	1	LA	1	53	606	15	50	520
63696184	1	OK	2	33	710	45	0	710
63702776	1	UT	1	328	405			405
63709163	1	CA	1	155	870	60	45	775
63740550	1	TX	2	99	675	60	34	581
63741426	1	OK	1	217	336	0	0	336
63760369	1	ID	2	80	900	24	130	550
63792363	1	FL	1	45	608	100	40	468
63801956	1	OH	1	104	765	111	14	646
63820649	1	WV	2	30	1100	112	75	913
64222283	1	NY		39	600	0	0	600
64222515	1	OK	2	42	682	0	0	682
64222556	1	FL	1	23	560	0	24	236
64223035	1	OH	2	120.00	720	0	0	720
64224355	1	MT	1	20	710	240	36	434
64224408	1	MA	1	60	765	81	40	644
64225349	1	IL	1	40	500	100	100	300
64225362	1	GA	2	286	810	45	40	725
64227355	1	WV	2	60	630	68	15	547
64227752	1	KS	2	154	560	00	10	560
64227820	1	TX	1	110	576	0	192	384
64230337	1	NY	2	65	700	0	0	700
64230598	1		1	32	1240	240	100	900
64230644	1	П	1	105	460	72	52	336
64236104	1	WW	1	80	765	140	117	508
64226402	1	<u> </u>	2	169	70J 855	140	160	515
64230402	1		2	51	633	180	100	515
64257818	1	VA	1	JI 112	624	119	20	024
64253501	1	NI	1	113	015	118	29	400
64272510	1	MO	2	106	005	1120	300	850
642/9904	1	CA	1	88	985	134	50	/40
64297559	1	CA	1		1081	81	152	848
64324946	1	WV	1	72	625	90	90	445
64326645	1	NE	2	27	1125	80	92	953
64329674	1	OK	1	71	480	0	0	480
64334936	1		1	66	308	56	0	252
64344668	1	IL	2	66	705	68	25	612
64348778	1	NY	1	74	448	0	00	448
64349787	1	MI	1	120	700	0	56	644
64350559	1	IL	1	100	725	300	100	600
64351251	1	OK	1	102	576	108	0	156
64352493	1	MI	2	8	1125	135	90	780

64419919	1	MS	1	22	315	60	15	240
64946040	1	MI	2	60	675	0	100	575
64991423	1	GA	2	180	765	0	126	623
65195595	1	SD	1	10	450	88	24	274
65196122	1	OH	1	100	618	0	0	618
65198237	1	NM	1	12	500	50	25	425
65202315	1		1	80	500	60	60	340
65216161	1	VA	1	28	530	0	0	530
65223234	1	CA	1	45	1188	108	162	918
65415697	1	OK	1	261	453	0	0	453
65609517	1	IΔ	1	95	330	0	0	330
65686423	1	ME	1	19	486	88	12	390
65707498	1		1	22	242	24	16	218
65805844	1	NV	2	65	700	0	0	700
65805045	1		1	45	<u>916</u>	120	120	684
65807280	1		2	4J 52	010 925	110	75	550
65907522	1	NC VA	2	59	719	60	25	530
65808222	1		2	30	/18 500	69	23	500
65808233	1	MD	1	115.00	500	62	20	500
65809113	1	KS	2	151	560	0	0	560
65809944	1		2	38	810	90	20	680
65814794	1	CA	1	20	600	100	50	450
65815930	1	<u>wv</u>	2	69	630	46	20	564
65819777	1	MA	1	37	772	12	0	650
65820486	1	CA	1	93	956	114	48	794
65823362	1	NC	2	9	548	48	100	400
65824653	1	NY	2	400	885	12	12	873
65837975	1		1	28	820	82	205	533
65879194	1	TX	1	74	1152	192	288	672
65881546	1	WV	2	9	600	50	50	500
65885140	1	CA	2	63	1080	119	30	798
65886694	1	CA	1	49	1025	187.5	30	800
65929827	1	IA	1	40	150	6	16	128.
65934709	1	NE	2	26	1095	30	104	991
65942097	1	OK	2	25	696	0	0	696
66040273	1	MO	2	45	700	0	30	400
66540720	1	VA	1	100	540	0	25	515
79205761	1	OR	2	68	900	90	18	792
79206344	1	VA	2	180	699	20	44	635
79208246	1	MO	1	38	968	453	40	465
79211533	1	NC		51	675	97	27	551
79216414	1	KS	2	123	760	36	20	700
79238400	1	OH	2	24	700	200	20	500
79241725	1	IA	2	24	750	125	56	450
79242327	1	PA	2	107	840	106		734
79242496	1	MN	2	37	792	160	0	549
79256208	1	UT	2	144	945	180	60	700
79300041	1	CA	2	158	855	0	150	650
79365943	1	PA	2	43	945	50	60	831
79377504	1	TX	2	127	810	85	155.5	569.5
80202861	1	MT	1	36	500	32	16	452
80204114	1	TX	1	357	336	96	100	236
8022342	1	171	2	30	648	72	40	536
80981842	1	CA	2	400	1030	0	40	1030
80983963	1	011		63	645	74	78	402
80985005	1	MN	2	36	700	60	0	640
80086747	1	VIIN V/ A	<u>ک</u> 1	22	505	00	35	505
00700242	1	v A	1	33	505	U	55	505

80990819	1	IN	2	29	724	90	24	610
80991681	1	CO	2	350	750	40	188	562
80992017	1	VT	2	24	558	70	40	448
81008009	1	MN	2	28	504	0	0	504
81014175	1	OH	2	52	752	50	255	752
81021609	1	SD	2	22	720	90	20	610
81031583	1	OR	2	58	900	90	24	786
81052574	1	AR	2	105	922.5	292.5	63	637
81132292	1	LA	2	149	900	0	80	820

*Note*. \*1 = ADN

## 146